

# UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS

Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica

GABRIEL MENDES DO VALLE

# Solvability of Complexes of Differential Operators

# Resolubilidade de Complexos de Operadores Diferenciais

Campinas 2024 Gabriel Mendes do Valle

# Solvability of Complexes of Differential Operators

# Resolubilidade de Complexos de Operadores Diferenciais

Dissertação apresentada ao Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica da Universidade Estadual de Campinas como parte dos requisitos exigidos para a obtenção do título de Mestre em Matemática.

Dissertation presented to the Institute of Mathematics, Statistics and Scientific Computing of the University of Campinas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master in Mathematics.

## Supervisor: Giuliano Angelo Zugliani

Este trabalho corresponde à versão final da Dissertação defendida pelo aluno Gabriel Mendes do Valle e orientada pelo Prof. Dr. Giuliano Angelo Zugliani.

> Campinas 2024

#### Ficha catalográfica Universidade Estadual de Campinas (UNICAMP) Biblioteca do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica Ana Regina Machado - CRB 8/5467

 Valle, Gabriel Mendes do, 2000-Solvability of complexes of differential operators / Gabriel Mendes do Valle.
 – Campinas, SP : [s.n.], 2024.
 Orientador: Giuliano Angelo Zugliani. Dissertação (mestrado) – Universidade Estadual de Campinas (UNICAMP), Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.
 1. Equações diferenciais parciais lineares. 2. Análise de Fourier. 3. Variedades diferenciáveis. I. Zugliani, Giuliano Angelo, 1984-. II. Universidade Estadual de Campinas (UNICAMP). Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica. III. Título.

#### Informações Complementares

Título em outro idioma: Resolubilidade de complexos de operadores diferenciais Palavras-chave em inglês: Linear partial differential equations Fourier analysis Differentiable manifolds Área de concentração: Matemática Titulação: Mestre em Matemática Banca examinadora: Giuliano Angelo Zugliani [Orientador] Gabriel Cueva Candido Soares de Araújo Nicholas Braun Rodrigues Data de defesa: 29-08-2024 Programa de Pós-Graduação: Matemática

Identificação e informações acadêmicas do(a) aluno(a) - ORCID do autor: https://orcid.org/0009-0004-8465-0680

ORCID do autor: https://orcid.org/0009-0004-8465-0680
 Currículo Lattes do autor: http://lattes.cnpq.br/5081794228234384

## Dissertação de Mestrado defendida em 29 de agosto de 2024 e aprovada

## pela banca examinadora composta pelos Profs. Drs.

### Prof. Dr. GIULIANO ANGELO ZUGLIANI

### Prof. Dr. GABRIEL CUEVA CANDIDO SOARES DE ARAÚJO

#### **Prof. Dr. NICHOLAS BRAUN RODRIGUES**

A Ata da Defesa, assinada pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora, consta no SIGA/Sistema de Fluxo de Dissertação/Tese e na Secretaria de Pós-Graduação do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.

# Acknowledgements

Agradeço aos meus familiares, amigos, professores e tantos outros que não consigo nomear, mas que tornaram esse trabalho possível.

Sou grato ao meu orientador Giuliano pela elaboração desse projeto e por tudo o que me ensinou no decorrer dessa etapa.

Por fim, agradeço pelos pontos de sugestão e correções trazidos na Defesa, que sem dúvida trouxeram inúmeras melhorias para a versão final. Em especial, agradeço ao Prof. Gabriel Araújo por me disponibilizar uma cópia do texto preliminar com seus comentários pessoais e ao Prof. Nicholas Braun pelos ótimos pontos de discussão sobre o resultado do Capítulo 3.

Esse trabalho foi realizado com o apoio da FUNCAMP (Fundação de Desenvolvimento da Unicamp) através da bolsa FAEPEX, protocolos Nº 89316-23 e 31556-23.

# Resumo

Discorremos sobre a teoria de complexos diferenciais de operadores e sistemas involutivos de campos vetoriais, estudando em maiores detalhes as condições suficientes de resolubilidade para os complexos diferenciais encontrados em duas situações distintas. Ambos os exemplos derivam de um modelo comum, o de sistemas do tipo tubo, sendo a resolubilidade determinada por condições no coeficiente do complexo diferencial. As hipóteses sobre os modelos levam a condições de resolubilidade qualitativamente distintas, a depender da homologia dos conjuntos de subnível do coeficiente, em um caso, e das integrais do coeficiente ao longo dos 1-ciclos geradores da homologia, no outro.

**Palavras-chave**: Sistemas involutivos. Sistemas sobredeterminados. Complexos de operadores diferenciais.

# Abstract

We go through the theory of complexes of differential operators and involutive systems of vector fields, delving into sufficient conditions for solvability of differential complexes as they appear in two distinct situations. Both examples are derived from a common model – tube type systems – with solvability being determined by conditions over the coefficient of the differential complex. The hypothesis over the models lead to distinct solvability conditions, depending on the homology of the sublevel sets determined by the coefficient, in one case, and on the integrals of the coefficient along the generating 1-cycles, in the other.

**Keywords**: Involutive systems. Overdetermined systems. Complex of differential operators.

# List of abbreviations and acronyms

| a.e. a | lmost | everywhere |
|--------|-------|------------|
|--------|-------|------------|

- iff if and only if
- ODE ordinary differential equation
- PDE partial differential equation
- TVS topological vector space

# List of symbols

| $\mathbb{F}$                      | Scalar field of either $\mathbb{R}$ or $\mathbb{C}$   |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$           | Set of extended real numbers $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}$   |
| $\mathbb{T}^n$                    | The <i>n</i> -torus $\mathbb{T} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{T}$  |
| $S^p$                             | The permutation group of order $p$  |
| $\mathcal{M}_{m \times n}(R)$     | Set of $m \times n$ matrices with entries in a ring $R$   |
| $\Gamma(E)$                       | Set of smooth sections of a vector bundle ${\cal E}$  |
| $\mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$            | The $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -module of vector fields over $\Omega$   |
| $[\cdot,\cdot]$                   | Lie bracket of vector fields  |
| $\ \cdot\ _p$                     | The $L^p$ norm over a measure space   |
| ÷                                 | Equality defining the expression on the left side   |
| $\cong$                           | Isomorphic objects in the appropriate category  |
| $\oplus$                          | Direct sum  |
| C                                 | Relatively compact subset   |
| Ш                                 | Disjoint union  |
| Aut                               | Set of automorphisms in the appropriate category  |
| span                              | Subset generated (in the appropriate sense) by a family of elements   |
| $\bigwedge \bullet V$             | The exterior algebra of a vector space $V$  |
| ker, ran                          | Kernel and range of a map   |
| supp                              | Support of a scalar-valued function   |
| ${ m Re, Im}$                     | Real and imaginary parts  |
| $\mathcal{L}(V,W);\mathcal{L}(V)$ | ) Set of linear maps from $V$ to $W$ ; linear operators from $V$ to $V$   |
| $[v]_{\gamma}, [P]_{\gamma}$      | Coordinate representation of a vector with respect to a basis $\gamma$ , matrix representation of a linear map (or <i>R</i> -module homomorphism) |
| $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$              | Set of scalar-valued smooth functions on a manifold $\Omega$  |

- $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  Set of compactly supported smooth functions on a manifold  $\Omega$
- $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  Set of Schwartz distributions over  $\Omega$
- $C^{\infty}(\Omega; E)$  Set smooth functions on a manifold  $\Omega$  with values on E
- Diff $(\Omega)$  Set of differential operators  $C^{\infty}(\Omega) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega)$
- $$\begin{split} \text{Diff}(\Omega;V,W) & \text{Set of differential operators } C^\infty(\Omega;V) \to C^\infty(\Omega;W), \text{ where } V \text{ and} \\ & W \text{ are vector spaces} \end{split}$$
- $\operatorname{ord}(P)$  Order of a differential operator P

# Contents

| In | trodเ | ıction   |
|----|-------|--|
| 1  | Pre   | liminaries   |
|    | 1.1   | Real analysis and smooth manifolds   |
|    | 1.2   | Complex vector fields  |
|    | 1.3   | Vector bundles   |
|    | 1.4   | Distribution theory and Fourier analysis   |
|    |       | 1.4.1 Distributions $\ldots \ldots 26$   |
|    |       | 1.4.2 Fourier analysis   |
|    |       | 1.4.3 Measure theory   |
|    | 1.5   | Pseudo-differential operators  |
| 2  | Diff  | erential complexes and involutive systems  |
|    | 2.1   | Complexes of differential operators  |
|    | 2.2   | Principal symbol and ellipticity   |
|    | 2.3   | Complexes determined by vector fields and involutive systems   |
|    | 2.4   | Involutive structures  |
| 3  | An    | nodel with complex coefficients  |
|    | 3.1   | Definition   |
|    | 3.2   | Construction of the differential complex   |
|    | 3.3   | Reduction on the coefficient $b$ and compatibility conditions $\ldots \ldots \ldots 52$  |
|    | 3.4   | Condition $(\psi)$ and proper decay on the coefficients $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ |
| 4  | An    | nodel with real coefficients   |
|    | 4.1   | Definition   |
|    | 4.2   | Liouville forms  |
|    | 4.3   | Global solvability   |
|    | 4.4   | Exactness of $\xi \wedge \cdots \dots \dots$   |
|    | 4.5   | Proof of sufficiency   |
|    |       |  |
| Bi | bliog | raphy  |

# Introduction

Among the better known systems in the theory of solvability for overdetermined linear PDEs are what we might call tube models. Its local description involves a family of complex vector fields  $L_1, \ldots, L_{\nu}$  on a product smooth manifold  $\mathbb{R}^{\nu} \times N$ , with variables  $t \in \mathbb{R}^{\nu}$  and  $x \in N$ . Supposing N has dimension m, the vector fields are locally given by

$$L_j = \partial_{t_j} + \sum_{k=1}^m c_{j,k}(t)\partial_{x_k}, \quad j = 1, \dots, \nu$$
(1)

for some complex smooth coefficients  $c_{j,k}$  which do not depend on x. Under a constraint of closedness over the 1-forms  $c_k \doteq \sum_j c_{j,k} dt_j$   $(j = 1, ..., \nu)$ , the family  $L_1, ..., L_\nu$  can be associated to a complex of differential operators over p-forms on the variable t, denoted as

$$C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{\nu} \times N; \mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{L}^{0}} C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{\nu} \times N; \bigwedge^{1,0} \mathbb{C}^{\nu}) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{L}^{1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{\mathbb{L}^{\nu-1}} C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{\nu} \times N; \bigwedge^{\nu,0} \mathbb{C}^{\nu})$$

$$(2)$$

with successive chain maps  $\mathbb{L}^p$  given by

$$\mathbb{L}^p = d_t + \sum_k c_k(t) \wedge \hat{\partial}_{x_k}, \quad p = 1, \dots, \nu - 1$$
(3)

Solving the overdetermined system  $L_j u = f_j$   $(j = 0, 1, ..., \nu)$ , in particular, is equivalent to solving an inhomogeneous problem with respect to  $\mathbb{L}^0$ .

Our subject matter is the solvability of complexes originated by differential operators closely related to (1). It is therefore in our interest to determine necessary and sufficient conditions to solve inhomogeneous linear equations, such as

$$\mathbb{L}^p u = f \tag{4}$$

for every  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{\nu} \times N, \bigwedge^{p,0} \mathbb{C}^{\nu})$  in a pre-established (*compatible*, as we usually call it) subset where solutions are reasonably expected. Weak solutions in spaces of distributions are to be regarded as well. The approach taken in the present work involves a general presentation of the theory of involutive systems followed by a detailed exposition of some of the techniques used in the proof of sufficient conditions for a couple different models.

Before further details, a bit of historical context is provided. In [Tre76], a number of innovative techniques are used to establish a necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of semi-global solutions at every level of a differential complex in the context of a pseudodifferential model over open Euclidean subsets. Soon after, [CH77] are able to adapt a few of those ideas to make a characterization of solvability for an analogous complex in a global setting. They consider operators on an arbitrary compact manifold in place of  $\mathbb{R}^{\nu}$  and an abstract Hilbert space as the function space in the x variable. In a different line, [BCM93] generalizes the Diophantine characterization of global hypoellipticity for constant coefficient vector fields in  $\mathbb{T}^2$ , found in [GW72], to two substantially wider classes of overdetermined systems of vector fields – they fit (3) when we take a compact manifold in place of  $\mathbb{R}^{\nu}$  for the variable t and  $N = \mathbb{T}^1$  for the variable x. Under suitable constraints, global hypoellipticity is fully characterized when the coefficient c(t) is real-analytic.

Using the same Diophantine condition as [BCM93], [BP99] characterizes global solvability for real vector fields with variables  $(t, x) \in \mathbb{T}^{\nu} \times \mathbb{T}$  at every level of the complex defined by (3) and for c(t) closed, thus completing the picture sketched by [CH77] for such setup.

The contents here are ordered according to the following scheme.

In Chapter 1 we go through a handful of concepts and elementary results involved in the main material. We recall notions from differential topology, real analysis and differential equations the reader is most likely already familiar with. This is done for the sake of recalling concepts, providing references and introducing bits of terminology and notation we adopt in the remaining. The last section presents pseudo-differential operators in the very basic setting needed to handle the model of Chapter 3. If, at any rate, the concepts or terminology employed seem unclear, the reader is advised to consult the references cited in the heading of the statements.

The actual subject begins in Chapter 2, where we overview the theory of complexes of differential operators and involutive structures, in an attempt to establish a middle ground between the material in [Tre77], from a course given by Treves in UFPE, and the introductory chapter of the comprehensive modern treatise [BCH08]. We start by defining differential complexes of differential operators of a general kind and related notions, giving some of the most prominent cases as examples – de Rham's complex, Dolbeault's complex and the complex of currents. Next, we see how families of vector fields may be turned into complexes, in a situation that generalizes the construction of the de Rham complex. This line of reasoning naturally leads us to the so-called involutive structures, locally defined by vector fields attending to two specific requirements which propitiate the study of solutions.

Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 postulate the specific models and solvability problems investigated. The methods employed to obtain candidate solutions are the typical ones from Fourier analysis, but the different assumptions taken for each model lead to qualitatively distinct solvability conditions. The model given in Chapter 3 is the one featured in [Tre76]. We follow a proof of solvability for the first level of the complex which is not covered in the original paper, but was later made available by the author in the lecture notes [Tre77]. Obtaining the necessary estimates to the end of getting solutions for the family of ODEs parameterized by  $\xi$  (obtained through a partial Fourier transform) which ensures a corresponding solution to the original PDE relies on a good choice for the paths of integration  $\gamma(t,\xi)$ . This calls, on one hand, for a uniform bound on an exponential factor along the paths of integration and, on the other, for the growth on the length of  $\gamma(t,\xi)$ to be controlled with respect to  $\xi$ . Those constraints lead to a solvability condition of a topological nature, fully determined by a criteria of connectivity on the sublevel sets induced by the coefficients. This is representative of the more general phenomena described in the paper, namely, the fact that solvability at the *p*-th level of the complex is fully determined by the *p*-th homology groups of the sublevel sets induced by those same coefficients.

Lastly, in Chapter 4, we follow the argument found in [BP99] to establish a sufficient condition for global solvability at every level of a differential complex on the (n + 1)-torus. In this situation, the appropriate control on the asymptotic decay of the small coefficients, which may appear in the solutions for the Fourier coefficients, is done by means of an algebraic condition of Diophantine approximations on the integrals of the coefficient of the complex (c(t) in (3)) over the generating 1-cycles of  $\mathbb{T}^n$ .

It is worth mentioning the subject studied here branches off into various lines of active research. To cite two recent examples, [HZ17] characterizes the global solvability at the first and last level of the complex, on the product of a compact manifold by a torus, when m = 1 and c(t) is real-analytic and purely imaginary, while [Ara+24] studies the cohomology spaces on every degree of the differential complex and arbitrary m.

# 1 Preliminaries

## 1.1 Real analysis and smooth manifolds

A topological manifold  $\Omega$  of dimension N is to be understood as a Hausdorff, second countable topological space  $\Omega$  such that each point  $p \in \Omega$  admits an open neighborhood  $U \subset \Omega$  which is homeomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . The pairs (U, x) where  $x : U \to \mathbb{R}^N$  is an homeomorphism from an open set  $U \subset \Omega$  are called *(local) charts* of  $\Omega$ . They can be combined into a unique maximal collection  $\mathcal{A}$ , said an *atlas* on  $\Omega$ , where the open sets cover  $\Omega$  and the transition functions  $y \circ x^{-1}$  between any two charts (U, x), (V, y) are homeomorphisms of subsets  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , whenever the composition between y and  $x^{-1}$  makes sense. Conversely, given  $\Omega$  a Hausdorff, second countable manifold, each atlas on  $\Omega$  determines a unique topological manifold.

To turn a topological manifold  $\Omega$  into a *smooth manifold*, we are required to choose a *differentiable structure* – a maximal, smoothly compatible subset of the atlas  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Definition 1.1.** A differentiable manifold (or smooth manifold) of dimension N is a topological manifold  $\Omega$  of dimension N endowed with a differentiable structure  $\mathcal{F}$ , that is, a subcollection  $\mathcal{F} = \{(U, x)\}$  of the atlas determined by  $\Omega$  such that

- (i) The smooth chart domains  $\{U : (U, x) \in \mathcal{F}\}$  cover  $\Omega$ ;
- (ii) Given  $(U, x), (V, y) \in \mathcal{F}$ , the transition map  $y \circ x^{-1} : x(U \cap V) \to y(U \cap V)$  is  $C^{\infty}$ whenever  $U \cap V \neq \emptyset$ ;
- (iii) It is maximal in the following sense: any chart (V, y) in the atlas determined by  $\Omega$ , such that  $\{(V, y)\} \cup \mathcal{F}$  satisfies (ii), necessarily belongs to  $\mathcal{F}$ .

This allows us to talk about smooth functions and maps as one would do in the Euclidean setting. Since all topological manifolds we shall ever consider are accompanied by a *smooth* structure, the adjective 'smooth' will often remain implicit when we talk about charts, coordinates, maps and so on. Moreover, if  $\Omega$  is given as an open subset of the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , the underlying differentiable structure is always to be regarded as the one induced by local diffeomorphisms from the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^N$  to itself. It is plain that the local coordinates of a smooth chart (U, x) may be offset by an arbitrary constant vector in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  while still remaining within the differentiable structure. Therefore, in choosing a local chart (U, x) near  $p \in U$ , we may require x(p) = 0, which we indicate by saying (U, x) is centered at p.

## 1.2 Complex vector fields

Since our study concerns complex vector fields, we generally regard  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  as the set of complex-valued smooth functions over  $\Omega$ , which is to say,  $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$  such that, for every (U, x) in the differentiable structure of  $\Omega$  we have  $f \circ x^{-1}$  smooth (with the standard identification  $\mathbb{C} \cong \mathbb{R}^2$ ). We make exceptions in a couple occasions: in Section 2.1, where  $\mathbb{F}$  stands for either  $\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$  (and the values are in  $\mathbb{F}$ ) and in Chapter 4, where the vector fields are real (and the values are in  $\mathbb{R}$ ). In the proceeding discussion, we shall always assume functions in  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  to be complex-valued.

Notice  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  constitutes a  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra with a conjugate linear map  $f \mapsto \overline{f}$  and which contains  $C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega) \doteq \{f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega) : \operatorname{ran} f \subset \mathbb{R}\}$  as a  $\mathbb{R}$ -subalgebra. The subspace of compactly supported smooth functions  $C^{\infty}_{c}(\Omega)$  is defined analogously.

A germ of a  $C^{\infty}$  function at p is an equivalence class on the set  $\mathcal{B}_p$  of pairs (U, f), where U is open containing p and  $f \in C^{\infty}(U)$ , under the relation

$$(U,f) \sim (V,g) \iff f|_{U \cap V} = g|_{U \cap V} \tag{1.1}$$

The set  $\mathcal{B}_p/\sim$  of germs at p and the germ defined by  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  at p are are denoted  $C^{\infty}(p)$  and  $\underline{f}_p$ , respectively. It isn't hard to see how this defines a  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra as well.

The  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra of smooth functions is, in particular, a vector space over  $\mathbb{C}$ . One possible definition of a complex vector field is therefore the following.

**Definition 1.2.** A smooth complex vector field over  $\Omega$  is a  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear map  $L : C^{\infty}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  which adheres to Leibniz's rule

$$L(fg) = L(f)g + fL(g), \quad f, g \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(1.2)

The set of smooth complex vector fields over  $\Omega$  is denoted  $\mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ . We extend the obvious vector space multiplication  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathfrak{X}(\Omega) \to \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  to multiplication by  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  by defining for each  $g \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ 

$$(gL)f = g \cdot Lf, \quad f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
 (1.3)

It is easy to see gL as given by (1.3) still satisfies (1.2), so it makes  $\mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -module. Furthermore, it has a conjugate operation

$$\overline{L}(f) = \overline{Lf}, \quad f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(1.4)

and the so-called Lie bracket operation  $[\cdot, \cdot] : \mathfrak{X}(\Omega) \times \mathfrak{X}(\Omega) \to \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ 

$$[L, M]f = L(Mf) - M(Lf), \quad \forall f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(1.5)

making it a Lie algebra over  $\mathbb{C}^1$ . To avoid cluttered expressions, given  $L \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  and  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , we denote the value of L(f) at a point  $p \in \Omega$  by  $(Lf)_p$ .

 $<sup>1^{1}</sup>$  see footnote in [BCH08, p. 4] for the definition

#### Restrictions

The action of vector fields over smooth functions has a local character which is not very evident in Definition 1.2. The first thing to realize is that the support never increases – if f vanishes near a point p, the same is true of Lf.

**Proposition 1.3** ([BCH08, Prop. I.1.3]). If  $L \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  and f is constant, then Lf = 0. We also have

$$\operatorname{supp} Lf \subset \operatorname{supp} f, \quad \forall f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega), L \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$$

$$(1.6)$$

*Proof.* The first claim follows at once replacing f = g = 1 in Definition 1.2 and using the fact L is  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear. To verify (1.6), we consider a set  $V \subset \Omega$  where f vanishes and show the same must occur for Lf.

Fix a point  $p \in \Omega$  and take (U, x) a local chart with  $p \in U \subset V$ . Also let  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  with ran  $\phi \subset [0, 1]$  be supported in U and such that  $\phi(p) = 1$ . Then  $f = (1 - \phi)f$  and by Leibniz's rule

$$Lf = L(1-\phi)f + (1-\phi)Lf \implies (Lf)_p = (L(1-\phi))_p f(p) + (1-\phi(p))(Lf)_p = 0$$
(1.7)

so we conclude  $Lf|_U = 0$ .

Then, by linearity, it's easy to see the value of Lf at a point  $p \in \Omega$  is determined solely by the germ at p defined by f, since, for any  $g \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  which agrees with fin a neighborhood of p, we have  $p \in (\Omega \setminus \text{supp}(f - g))$  and thus, by Proposition 1.3,  $(L(f - g))_p = (Lf)_p - (Lg)_p = 0.$ 

That allows us to restrict a vector field  $L \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  to open subsets  $U \subset \Omega$  by letting  $L_U \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$  be the unique  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear map making

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
C^{\infty}(\Omega) & \stackrel{L}{\longrightarrow} & C^{\infty}(\Omega) \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
C^{\infty}(U) & \stackrel{L_{U}}{\longrightarrow} & C^{\infty}(U)
\end{array}$$
(1.8)

a commutative diagram, with the vertical arrows denoting restrictions. More explicitly,

$$(L_U f)_p = (L\tilde{f})_p, \quad p \in \Omega, f \in C^{\infty}(U)$$
(1.9)

where  $\widetilde{f} \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is any such that  $\underline{\widetilde{f}}_p = \underline{f}_p$ .

#### Local coordinate representations

If  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  is open, the partial derivatives

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}: f \mapsto \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_j}, \quad j = 1, \dots, N$$
(1.10)

define  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear operators over  $C^{\infty}(U)$  which, furthermore, satisfy Definition 1.2 by virtue of the product rule.

Let  $p \in U$ , since the values  $(Lf)_p$  depend on f solely through  $\underline{f}_p \in C^{\infty}(U)$ , expressing the values of f near p with a first order approximation

$$f(x) - f(p) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} h_j(x)(x_j(x) - x_j(p))$$
(1.11)

where  $h = (h_1, \ldots, h_N)$  is valued in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and such that  $\lim_{x \to p} h(x) = f'(p)$ , we may apply Leibniz's rule to the previous and evaluate at p to obtain  $(Lf)_p$  as follows –

$$Lf = \sum_{j} Lh_j \ (x_j - x_j(p)) + h_j \ Lx_j \implies (1.12)$$

$$(Lf)_p = \sum_j h_j(p)(Lx_j)_p = \sum_j (Lx_j)_p \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}f_j\right)_p$$
(1.13)

Therefore, L is given as a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -linear combination of the vector fields in (1.10)

$$L = \sum_{j} L x_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \tag{1.14}$$

and  $\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}\right)_{j=1,\dots,N}$  is a basis for the module  $\mathfrak{X}(U)$ .

Now suppose  $\Omega$  is a manifold of dimension N. Each local diffeomorphism provided by a chart in the differentiable structure can be used to pullback the basic vector fields (1.10) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  to a basis of vector fields in the chart domain.

**Proposition 1.4.** Each chart (U, x) in  $\Omega$  induces a basis  $\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}\right)_j$  of  $\mathfrak{X}(U)$  with elements defined by the requirement of commutativity in the following diagram

$$C^{\infty}(U) \xrightarrow{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}} C^{\infty}(U)$$

$$\downarrow^x \qquad \qquad \downarrow^x$$

$$C^{\infty}(x(U)) \xrightarrow{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}} C^{\infty}(x(U))$$
(1.15)

If  $(x_1, \ldots, x_N) \subset C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}}(U)$  are the coordinates of a chart (U, x), the expression for a given  $L \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$  is again provided by (1.14). In particular the Lie bracket of L with some  $M \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$  may be written

$$[L, M] = \sum_{j} (L(Mx_j) - M(Lx_j)) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$$
(1.16)

### 1.3 Vector bundles

The general definition of a smooth vector bundle is the following.

**Definition 1.5** ([Lee13, Chap.10]). Let  $\Omega$  be a smooth manifold of dimension N, a smooth vector bundle of rank  $\nu$  over  $\Omega$  is a smooth manifold E with a smooth surjection  $\rho : E \to M$  such that

- (i) for each  $p \in \Omega$ , the fiber  $E_p \doteq \rho^{-1}(p)$  over p is endowed with the structure of a  $\nu$ -dimensional vector space over  $\mathbb{F}$ ;
- (ii) for every  $p \in \Omega$ , there is an open neighborhood  $U \subset \Omega$ , which contains p, and a diffeomorphism

$$\Phi: \rho^{-1}(U) \to U \times \mathbb{F}^{\nu} \tag{1.17}$$

(said a local trivialization of E over U) such that the canonical projection  $\pi$  of  $U \times \mathbb{F}^{\nu}$ onto  $\mathbb{F}^{\nu}$  makes



commute. Moreover, the restriction of  $\Phi$  to any of the fibers  $E_q$  defines a linear isomorphism  $E_q \to \{q\} \times \mathbb{F}^{\nu}$ .

It is a common abuse of language to refer to E, rather than (E, p), as the vector bundle, leaving  $\rho$  and  $\Omega$  implicit. The bundle is said real if  $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{R}$  and complex if  $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{C}$ . The smooth manifold  $\Omega$  is often said to be the *base space*, while E is referred to as the *total space*.

Since  $\rho$  is surjective, the underlying set of E is a disjoint union of the  $\nu$ -dimensional vector spaces

$$E = \bigsqcup_{p \in \Omega} E_p \tag{1.19}$$

Notice the differential structure of E can be fully recovered from condition (*ii*), which implies  $\rho^{-1}(U)$  are chart domains on E for every chart domain U of  $\Omega$ . In particular, if there exists a local trivialization whose domain is the entire base space E, then E is isomorphic to the product space  $\Omega \times \mathbb{F}^{\nu}$  and  $\rho : E \to \Omega$  is said a *trivial bundle*.

Smooth maps from  $\sigma : \Omega \to E$  such that the composition  $\rho \circ \sigma$  is the identity map on  $\Omega$  are called *sections of* E. They constitute the space of sections of E, which is denoted  $\Gamma(E)$ . For our purposes, the most essential instances of vector bundles will be the complex tangent and cotangent bundles of a smooth manifold  $\Omega$ , as well as the lower rank bundle structures found within those.

**Definition 1.6** ([BCH08, Definition I.3.1]). A complex tangent vector v at a point  $p \in \Omega$ is a  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear map  $v \in \mathcal{L}(C^{\infty}(p), \mathbb{C})$  such that

$$v(\underline{fg}) = f(p)v(\underline{g}) + g(p)v(\underline{f}), \quad \underline{f}, \underline{g} \in C^{\infty}(p)$$
(1.20)

We denote  $\mathbb{C}T_p\Omega$  the vector space of complex tangent vectors at  $p \in \Omega$ .

As we have seen before, given a vector field L and a point  $p \in \Omega$ , the value of  $(Lf)_p$ only depends on the germ of f at p. Since Leibniz's rule is built-in the definition of a vector field, we can define complex tangent vector with the following association

$$L_p: \underline{f}_p \in C^{\infty}(p) \mapsto (Lf)_p \in \mathbb{C}, \quad \underline{f}_p \in C^{\infty}(p)$$
 (1.21)

The tangent vectors obtained in this manner from the basis  $\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}\right) \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$  induced by a chart (U, x) and a point  $p \in \Omega$  are denoted  $\left.\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}\right|_p$ . It is easy to see they constitute a basis of  $\mathbb{C}T_p\Omega$ .

**Definition 1.7.** The complexified tangent bundle  $\mathbb{C}T\Omega$  of  $\Omega$  is the disjoint union

$$\mathbb{C}T\Omega = \bigsqcup_{p \in \Omega} \mathbb{C}T_p\Omega \tag{1.22}$$

If  $\pi : \mathbb{C}T\Omega \to \Omega$  is the projection  $v \in \mathbb{C}T_p\Omega \mapsto p$ , a trivialization  $\pi^{-1}(U) \to U \times \mathbb{C}^N$  of  $\mathbb{C}T\Omega$  near p defined by choosing coordinates (U, x) for  $\Omega$  with  $p \in U$  and setting

$$v = \sum \alpha_j \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \right|_p \in \pi^{-1}(U) \mapsto (p, (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_N))$$
(1.23)

This makes  $(\mathbb{C}T\Omega, \pi)$  a smooth vector bundle of rank N.

**Definition 1.8.** A complex vector subbundle  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $\mathbb{C}T\Omega$  of rank n and corank N - n is a smooth vector bundle substructure of  $\mathbb{C}T\Omega$ , meaning it is given by a disjoint union

$$\mathcal{V} = \bigsqcup_{p \in \Omega} \mathcal{V}_p \subset \mathbb{C}T\Omega \tag{1.24}$$

such that

- 1. for each  $p \in \Omega$ ,  $\mathcal{V}_p$  is a n-dimensional (complex) vector subspace of  $\mathbb{C}T\Omega$ ;
- 2. given  $p \in \Omega$ , there is  $U \ni p$  open and vector fields  $L_1, \ldots, L_n \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$  such that  $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{(L_1)_q, \ldots, (L_n)_q\} = \mathcal{V}_q$  for each  $q \in U$ .

A family of vector fields  $(L_1, \ldots, L_n)$  such that  $(L_1)_p, \ldots, (L_n)_p$  spans  $\mathcal{V}_p$  for each  $p \in \Omega$  are called *generators* of  $\mathcal{V}$ . Condition 2. in the definition can thus be rephrased as follows: for every  $p \in \Omega$  there is  $U \subset \Omega$  open and a family of n vector fields which generate  $\mathcal{V} \cap \mathbb{C}TU$ .

Notice a section of a subbundle  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{C}T\Omega$  is nothing but a vector field  $L \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ such that  $L_p \in \mathcal{V}_p$  for every  $p \in \Omega$ .

Corresponding to vector fields and the tangent bundle, we have the dual notions of a 1-form and the cotangent bundle. They fulfill pretty much the same properties as the former.

Loosely speaking, we can say the cotangent bundle  $\mathbb{C}T^*\Omega$  is the smooth vector bundle obtained from attaching continuous duals  $\mathbb{C}T_p^*\Omega \doteq (\mathbb{C}T_p\Omega)^*$  as in Definition 1.8. A 1-form  $\omega$  is a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  linear map

$$\omega: \mathfrak{X}(\Omega) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega) \tag{1.25}$$

They restrict to open sets as well. Given a chart (U, x), the canonical projections of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ induce a basis of 1-forms in U, denoted  $(dx_i)_{1,\dots,N}$ , characterized by the relations

$$dx_j\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}\right) = \delta_{jk}, \quad \forall j,k \tag{1.26}$$

More generally, a k-form is characterized as a smooth section of  $\bigwedge^k T^*\Omega$ , so we sometimes denote  $\Gamma(\bigwedge^k T^*\Omega)$  the set of k-forms over  $\Omega$ . See [BCH08, Section I.4] or [Lee13] for further details.

Proposition 1.9 (Exterior derivative axioms [Lee13, Prop. 14.24]).

Let M be a smooth manifold, then there are unique linear maps  $d_p : \Gamma(\bigwedge^p T^*M) \to \Gamma(\bigwedge^{p+1} T^*M)$  with the following properties:

(i) If  $\omega \in \Gamma(\bigwedge^k T^*M)$  and  $\eta \in \Gamma(\bigwedge^l T^*M)$ , then

$$d(\omega \wedge \eta) = d\omega \wedge \eta + (-1)^k \omega \wedge d\eta;$$

(ii)  $d_{p+1} \circ d_p = 0;$ 

(iii) For all  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ , the dual relation

$$\langle df, L \rangle = L(f) \tag{1.27}$$

holds.

The validity of the following Lemma and its dual statement establish a one-to-one correspondence between subbundles of  $\mathbb{C}T\Omega$  of rank n and subbundles of  $\mathbb{C}T^*\Omega$  of rank N-n.<sup>2</sup> This relation will play a significant role in our classification of involutive structures at a later point in Chapter 2.

**Lemma 1.10** ([BCH08, p. 9 Prop. 4.4]). Let  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{C}T\Omega$  be a complex vector subbundle, then the subset  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \subset \mathbb{C}T^*\Omega$  with fiber elements

$$\mathcal{V}_p^{\perp} = \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}T_p^*(\Omega) : \lambda|_{\mathcal{V}_p} = 0 \}, \quad p \in \Omega$$
(1.28)

is a vector subbundle of  $\mathbb{C}T^*\Omega$ .

*Proof.* Fix  $p \in \Omega$  and a local chart (U, x) with  $p \in U$ . Take  $L_1, \ldots, L_\nu \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$  generators for  $\mathcal{V} \cap \mathbb{C}TU$  and write each of them as

$$L_j = \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} a_{jk} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}, \quad a_{jk} \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(1.29)

Since  $(a_{jk}) \in \mathcal{M}_{N \times \nu}(C^{\infty}(\Omega))$  is smooth and has full rank in U, one of the  $\binom{N}{\nu}$  square submatrices is non-singular in a shrunk neighborhood of p. Therefore, by taking U smaller and reindexing the matrix rows, we can assume the square matrix given by the first  $\nu$ rows is invertible in U. Suppose its inverse is  $(b_{jk}) \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu \times \nu}(C^{\infty}(U))$  and consider a new family of vector fields in U defined as

$$L'_{j} = \sum_{k} b_{jk} L_{j}, \quad j = 1, \dots, \nu$$
 (1.30)

Notice they also generate the subbundle  $\mathcal{V} \cap \mathbb{C}TU$ . Furthermore, the vector fields  $L'_j$  are written

$$L'_{j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} + \sum_{k=1}^{N-\nu} c_{jk} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{\nu+k}}, \quad c_{jk} \in C^{\infty}(U)$$
(1.31)

so we let

$$\omega_j = dx_{\nu+j} - \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} c_{jl} dx_k, \quad l = 1, \dots N - \nu$$
(1.32)

Then,  $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_{N-\nu}$  are linearly independent in the fibers of  $\mathbb{C}T^*U$  while also satisfying

$$\omega_j(L'_k) = dx_{n+l}(L'_j) - c_{jl} = 0 \tag{1.33}$$

Thus they make generators for  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{C}T^*U$ .

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  To be sure, the dual statement is obtained by switching the roles of the tangent and cotangent bundles in the proposition.

# 1.4 Distribution theory and Fourier analysis

Our notation in the subject of real analysis follows the standard of classical books such as [Fol99] and [Gra14].

Given 
$$x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n, y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
, we set

$$x \cdot y = \sum_{j} x_j y_j, \quad |x| = \left(\sum_{j} x_j^2\right)^{1/2} \tag{1.34}$$

Let f be a function of x on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , the partial derivative with respect to the j-th variable is written

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_j}$$
 or  $\partial_{x_j} f$  (1.35)

A multi-index (on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ) will be an ordered *n*-tuple of non-negative integers. Given a multi-index  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$  we set

$$|\alpha| = \sum_{j} \alpha_{j}, \quad \alpha! = \sum_{j} \alpha_{j}!, \quad \partial_{x}^{\alpha} = \partial_{x_{1}}^{\alpha_{1}} \cdots \partial_{x_{n}}^{\alpha_{n}}$$
(1.36)

and, given  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ ,  $x^{\alpha} = \prod_j x_j^{\alpha_j}$ . If x is the only variable of a function, the subscript x may be omitted in  $\partial_x^{\alpha}$ . The order relations < and  $\leq$  on  $\mathbb{N}$  induce partial orders denoted by the same symbols on  $\mathbb{N}^n$ . For instance, if  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are multi-indices,

$$\alpha \leqslant \beta \iff \forall j, \ \alpha_j \leqslant \beta_j \tag{1.37}$$

Then, the general Leibniz's product rule for f, g functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  reads

$$\partial^{\alpha}(fg) = \sum_{0 \le \beta \le \alpha} \binom{\alpha}{\beta} (\partial^{\alpha} f) (\partial^{\alpha-\beta} g), \quad \text{where} \quad \binom{\alpha}{\beta} = \prod_{j} \binom{\alpha_{j}}{\beta_{j}} \tag{1.38}$$

#### Topological vector spaces

A topological vector space (TVS) consists of a set X equipped with a topology  $\tau$ and a vector space structure  $(X, +, \cdot)$  over  $\mathbb{F}$  such that

- 1. every element of X is closed in  $\tau$ ;
- 2. the vector spaces operations  $+ : X \times X \to X$  and  $\cdot : \mathbb{F} \times X \to X$  are continuous with respect to  $\tau$

It follows automatically from those requirements that X is Hausdorff and the topology  $\tau$  is translation-invariant, the latter meaning given an open set  $U \in \tau$ , the translates

 $v + U = \{v + u : u \in U\}$  are open as well, for whatever  $v \in X$  we choose (see [Rud91]). The topology  $\tau$  is then fully described by a *local base*, that is, a topological base at 0.

If there exists a choice of local base  $\mathcal{B}$  such that every  $U \in \mathcal{B}$  is convex, the TVS is said *locally convex*. This is relevant because many of the standard functional-analytic results for normed spaces have corresponding versions for locally convex TVS.

A seminorm on a vector space X is a function  $p: X \to \mathbb{F}$  which is both additive and positive homogeneous. One convenient way to introduce a locally convex topology in a vector space X is by means of a family of seminorms  $(\rho_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$  with the separating property –

$$\forall x \in X \setminus \{0\}, \quad \exists \alpha \in A \text{ such that } \rho_{\alpha}(x) \neq 0 \tag{1.39}$$

**Theorem 1.11** ([Rud91, Th.1.37]). Suppose  $(\rho_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$  a separating family of seminorms on a vector space X. Associate to each  $\alpha \in A$  and positive integer n the set

$$V(\alpha, n) = \{ x \in X : \rho_{\alpha}(x) < 1/n \}$$
(1.40)

then finite intersections of sets in the collection  $(V(\alpha, n))_{\alpha \in A, n \in \mathbb{N}}$  constitute a local base for a topology  $\tau$  on X, which turns X into a locally convex space such that all seminorms  $\rho_{\alpha}$ continuous.

When the family of seminorms which induces the topology of a TVS is countable, say  $(\rho_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ , a compatible translation-invariant metric can be defined as

$$d(x,y) = \sum_{j} 2^{-j} \frac{\rho_j(x-y)}{1+\rho_j(x-y)}, \quad x,y \in X$$
(1.41)

### Spaces of functions

**Definition 1.12** (Locally integrable functions). A Lebesgue measurable function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \Omega$  is locally integrable if for all  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  compact

$$\int_{K} |f| d\lambda < \infty \tag{1.42}$$

The set of all locally integrable functions is denoted  $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . It can be turned into a metrizable TVS by taking  $(K_j) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  an exhaustion of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  by compact sets (i.e.  $\bigcup K_j = \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $K_j \subseteq K_{j+1}$ ) and the topology described in Theorem 1.11 for the seminorms

$$\rho_j(f) = \int_{K_j} |f| d\lambda \tag{1.43}$$

**Definition 1.13** ([Gra14, Def.2.2.1]). Let  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be the space of smooth, complex-valued functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We introduce the following family of seminorms: given  $\alpha, \beta$  multi-indices

in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , set

$$\rho_{\alpha,\beta}(f) \doteq \sup |x^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} f| \tag{1.44}$$

Then  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is in the space of Schwartz functions  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if for all  $\alpha, \beta$ 

$$\rho_{\alpha,\beta}(f) < \infty \tag{1.45}$$

The family  $(\rho_{\alpha,\beta})$  defined in (1.44) is countable and each of its elements satisfy the axioms of a seminorm on the space of Schwartz functions due to (1.45). Furthermore, it is separating since  $\rho_{0,0}(f) = 0$  implies f = 0; therefore, we can endow  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with the topology of Theorem 1.11 to make it a locally convex metrizable TVS. The corresponding notion of convergence for a sequence  $(f_k) \subset \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the following –

$$f_k \xrightarrow{\mathcal{S}} 0 \iff \forall \alpha, \beta, \quad \rho_{\alpha,\beta}(f_k) \to 0$$
 (1.46)

It is not hard to show this makes  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  complete, since derivation is well-behaved with respect to uniform limits and  $\rho_{0,0}(f_k) \to 0$  implies  $f_k \to 0$  uniformly.

The setting of Schwartz functions is ideal for Fourier analysis because the Fourier transform defines an automorphism over  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We opt the normalizations in the following definition.

**Definition 1.14.** Given  $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we define

$$\widehat{f}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) e^{-2\pi i x \cdot \xi} dx \tag{1.47}$$

the Fourier transform of f and

$$\check{f}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} dx \tag{1.48}$$

the inverse Fourier transform of f.

The standard formulas relating the Fourier transform and derivatives of a function are more concisely written if we introduce the normalized differential operators

$$D^{\alpha} \doteq \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{|\alpha|}} \partial^{\alpha} \tag{1.49}$$

**Proposition 1.15.** Given  $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\alpha$  a multi-index, the Fourier transform given by Definition 1.14 is a homeomorphism from  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to itself. Furthermore,

- 1.  $\|\hat{f}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \|\hat{f}\|_{L^{1}}$ 2.  $(D^{\alpha}f)^{\wedge}(\xi) = \xi^{\alpha}\hat{f}(\xi)$
- 3.  $\check{f} = f = \check{f}$

**Definition 1.16** ([Gra14, Section 2.3.1]). Convergence in the spaces  $C^{\infty}$  and  $C_c^{\infty}$  of smooth functions are regarded in the following sense:

- 1.  $f_k \to f \in C^{\infty} \iff f_k, f \in C^{\infty} \text{ and } \lim_{k \to \infty} \sup_{|x| \leq N} |\partial^{\alpha} (f f_k)(x)| = 0, \forall \alpha$ multi-indices and N > 0
- 2.  $f_k \to f \in C_c^{\infty} \iff f_k, f \in C^{\infty}$  are commonly supported in a compact set K and  $\lim_{k\to\infty} \|\partial^{\alpha}(f f_k)\| = 0, \ \forall \alpha \ multi-indices$

### 1.4.1 Distributions

77 Distributions are the continuous linear functionals in the spaces of functions previously introduced. We denote

$$\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \doteq (C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^* \tag{1.50}$$

$$\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \doteq (\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n))^* \tag{1.51}$$

The operator topology, in both cases, is given by the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology, where sequential convergence amounts to

$$T_k \to T \text{ in } \mathscr{B}^* \iff T_k, T \in \mathscr{B} \text{ and } T_k(f) \to T(f), \quad \forall f \in \mathscr{B}$$
 (1.52)

with  $\mathscr{B}$  standing for either  $C_c^{\infty}$  or  $\mathcal{S}$ . It is usual to refer to an element of  $\mathcal{S}'$  as a *tempered distribution*.

Those spaces allow us to define, among others, operations of multiplication by smooth function as differentiation. Consult [Fol99, Chapter 9] for the precise definitions.

For the subject of Hilbert Sobolev spaces, we refer to [Fol99, Section 9.3] and only discuss the basic facts we will use.

Let  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , the function  $\xi \mapsto (1 + |\xi|^2)^{s/2}$  is smooth and slowly increasing, therefore

$$\Lambda_s f = ((1+|\xi|^2)^{s/2} \hat{f})^{\vee}$$
(1.53)

is a well-defined, continuous linear operator on  $\mathcal{S}'$ . In fact, one can verify  $\Lambda_s \circ \Lambda_{-s} = \Lambda_{-s} \circ \Lambda_s = id_{\mathcal{S}'}$  so that  $\Lambda_s$  is in fact an isomorphism. We define the Hilbert space  $H^s$ , for a given  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , as the subset of tempered distributions such that  $\Lambda_s f \in L^2$ .

**Definition 1.17.** The Sobolev space  $H^s$ , for  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , is the set

$$H^s = \{ f \in \mathcal{S}' : \Lambda_s f \in L^2 \}$$

$$(1.54)$$

endowed with the norm

$$||f||_{H^s} = ||\Lambda_s f|| = \left(\int |\widehat{f}(\xi)|^2 (1+|\xi|^2)^s d\xi\right)^{1/2}$$
(1.55)

Notice  $H^s \subset H^t$  whenever s > t.

**Definition 1.18.** The Sobolev spaces  $H^{\infty}$  and  $H^{-\infty}$  are defined as

$$H^{\infty} = \bigcap_{s>0} H^s, \quad H^{-\infty} = \bigcup_{s<0} H^s \tag{1.56}$$

The former is endowed with the inductive limit topology obtained from the inclusions  $H^{\infty} \hookrightarrow H^s$ , while the latter receives the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology from its dual pairing with  $H^{\infty}$ .

#### 1.4.2 Fourier analysis

Consider the Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}$  defined again by formula (1.47).

**Theorem 1.19** ([Fol99, Th.8.22]). Suppose  $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

- 1. if  $x^{\alpha}f \in L^1$  for  $|\alpha| \leq k$ , then  $\widehat{f} \in C^k$  and  $D^{\alpha}\widehat{f} = (-1)^{|\alpha|}\widehat{x^{\alpha}f}$
- 2.  $\mathcal{F}(L^1) \subset \{f \in C^0 : \lim_{x \to \infty} f(x) = 0\}$

#### 1.4.3 Measure theory

**Definition 1.20** (Upper semi-continuity). A function  $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$  is upper semicontinuous if for every  $p \in X$  and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  there is an open neighborhood U of p such that  $f(U) \subset [-\infty, r)$ 

**Theorem 1.21** ([Fol99, Th.7.10] Lusin's theorem). Suppose that  $\mu$  is a Radon measure on X and  $f: X \to \mathbb{C}$  measurable and vanishing outside a set of finite measure. Then given  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\phi \in C_c(X)$  such that  $\phi = f$  except for a set of measure less than  $\epsilon$ . If f is bounded,  $\phi$  can be taken such that  $\|\phi\|_{\infty} \leq \|f\|_{\infty}$ .

# 1.5 Pseudo-differential operators

Given a function  $a(x,\xi)$ , we may consider its corresponding action  $T_a$  as an integral operator

$$T_a f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} a(x,\xi) \hat{f}(\xi) \, d\xi \tag{1.57}$$

In particular, the action of a differential operator can be recovered in (1.57) by  $a(x,\xi)$  its symbol. Thus, the class of pseudo-differential operators, which includes all integral operators represented as above, generalizes the usual differential operators.

Integrability on the right-side of (1.57) and continuity of the integral operator will naturally depend on the domain of definition, as well as the decay of  $a(x,\xi)$  and its derivatives. The different conditions we may impose on  $a(x,\xi) : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  determine spaces of functions generally referred as symbol classes.

The rather simple case of symbol classes  $S^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  and its extension result for the Hilbert Sobolev spaces  $H^{\pm \infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are all we shall need for the purposes of Chapter 3.

**Definition 1.22** ([RT10, Def 2.1.1] Symbol classes  $S^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ ). A smooth function  $a : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  belongs to the class of symbols  $S^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  if for all multi-indices  $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$  there are constants  $A_\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\left|\partial_x^\beta \partial_\xi^\alpha a(x,\xi)\right| \leqslant A_\alpha (1+|\xi|)^{m-|\alpha|} \tag{1.58}$$

**Theorem 1.23.** Let  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ , the pseudo-differential defined by the symbol a is

$$a(X,D)f(x) = \int e^{2\pi x \cdot \xi} a(x,\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) d\xi, \quad f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$
(1.59)

Then  $a(X, D)f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Theorem 1.24** ([RT10, Th. 2.6.11]). Let  $T \in S^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  be a pseudo-differential operator of order  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then T extends to a bounded linear operator from  $H^k(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $H^{k-m}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Corollary 1.25.** If  $T \in S^m(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  is a pseudo-differential operator for some  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ , then T extends from a bounded linear operator in  $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to bounded linear operators in  $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $H^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

# 2 Differential complexes and involutive systems

We assume throughout the current chapter that  $\Omega$  is a manifold of dimension  $\nu$ . The symbol  $\mathbb{F}$  will stand for the scalar fields of either  $\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$  – we employ it whenever both options are suitable.

# 2.1 Complexes of differential operators

Let  $\Omega$  be an open submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^{\nu}$ .

### Linear differential operators of scalar-valued functions

We denote  $\operatorname{Diff}(\Omega)$  the collection of all linear differential operators  $C^{\infty}(\Omega) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . In multi-index notation, that means for each  $P \in \operatorname{Diff}(\Omega)$  there are smooth coefficients  $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A} \subset C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , where A is a finite multi-index family, such that for any  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and  $x \in \Omega$ ,

$$Pf(x) = \sum_{\alpha \in A} a_{\alpha}(x) D^{\alpha} f(x)$$
(2.1)

This is often written more concisely as

$$P(x,D) = \sum_{\alpha \in A} a_{\alpha}(x) D^{\alpha}$$
(2.2)

The **support of a family**  $(a_{\alpha})$ , denoted supp  $(a_{\alpha})$  consists of those indexes  $\alpha \in A$ for which  $a_{\alpha}$  is non-zero.<sup>1</sup> Thus, each differential operator  $P \in \text{Diff}(\Omega)$  has an **order** given by  $\text{ord}(P) \doteq \max_{\alpha \in \text{supp}(a_{\alpha})} |\alpha|$ . Perhaps including a few zero coefficients, the same operator P of (2.2) is written as

$$P(x,D) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le \operatorname{ord}(P)} a_{\alpha}(x) D^{\alpha}$$
(2.3)

The subset of operators in  $\text{Diff}(\Omega)$  up to order k is denoted  $\text{Diff}^k(\Omega)$ .

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{1}$  if context allows it, we will often omit the indexing family

### Linear differential operators of vector-valued functions

For operators mapping vector-valued functions, we make the following adjustment.

**Definition 2.1.** Let V, W be finite dimensional  $\mathbb{F}$ -vector spaces with dim V = m and dim W = n. Then, a **linear differential operator**  $P \in \text{Diff}(\Omega; V, W)$  is a linear mapping  $P: C^{\infty}(\Omega; V) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega; W)$  which is represented by a matrix of coefficients in Diff( $\Omega$ ), that is, given  $\gamma_V, \gamma_W$  respective bases of V and W, there exists  $[P] = (P_{jk}) \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times m}(\text{Diff}(\Omega))$ such that for all  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; V)$ 

$$[Pf]_{\gamma_W} = [P][f]_{\gamma_V}$$

Although the definition works with a specified basis of the vector spaces, all examples we shall present will come with a 'natural' choice at hand, ultimately coming from the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{\nu}$ . Our initial examples should make this point clear. Identifying the vector values within a single vector space is a privilege of working with open submanifolds – if our description of  $\Omega$  came from the point of view of intrinsic manifolds, the values would take place in vector bundles, as one often sees in the literature.

**Definition 2.2.** Let  $(E_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  be vector spaces of finite dimension and  $(P_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \text{Diff}(\Omega; E_j, E_{j+1})$ . A complex of differential operators  $P \doteq (C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_j), P_j)_j$  consists of a sequence

$$0 \xrightarrow{P_0} C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_1) \xrightarrow{P_1} C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_2) \xrightarrow{P_2} \cdots \xrightarrow{P_{j-1}} C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_j) \xrightarrow{P_j} \cdots$$

such that  $\forall j \in \mathbb{N}, \ P_{j+1} \circ P_j = 0.^2$ 

The *j*-th level of the complex,  $C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_j)$ , is attached to a cohomology space

$$H_P^j(\Omega) \doteq \frac{\ker P_{j+1}}{\operatorname{ran} P_j}$$

The sequence is **exact at**  $C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_j)$  if the corresponding cohomology  $H_P^j(\Omega)$  is trivial, i.e., ker  $P_{j+1} = \operatorname{ran} P_j$ . If P is exact at every level, we simply refer to P as an **exact** sequence.

#### Examples

Example 2.3 (The de Rham complex).

Let  $E_p = \bigwedge^p \mathbb{F}^{\nu}$  be the  $\binom{\nu}{p}$ -dimensional vector space of alternating *p*-linear maps on  $\mathbb{F}^{\nu}$ , often referred simply as *p*-tensors. We first recall some basic facts about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> notice each equality  $P_{j+1} \circ P_j = 0$  is equivalent to an inclusion ran  $P_j \subset \ker P_{j+1}$ 

alternating vector algebra as they apply to the situation at hand. Let  $\mathcal{I}_p^{\nu} = \{(i_1, \ldots, i_p) \in \{1, \ldots, \nu\}^p : i_1 < \ldots < i_p\}$ , then given a basis  $e_1, \ldots, e_{\nu}$  for  $E_1$ , dual to  $e^1, \ldots, e^{\nu} \in E_0$ , each  $J = (j_1, \ldots, j_p) \in \{1, \ldots, \nu\}^p$  determines a *p*-tensor  $e_J \doteq e_{j_1} \land \ldots \land e_{j_p}$  as follows: if any index of J is repeated, then  $e_J$  is zero; otherwise,  $e_J$  is characterized among *p*-linear maps in  $\mathbb{F}^{\nu}$  by the fact  $\forall I = (i_1, \ldots, i_p) \in \{1, \ldots, \nu\}^p$ 

$$e_J(e^{i_1}, \dots, e^{i_p}) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } I \neq J \text{ as sets} \\ \operatorname{sgn} \sigma, & \text{if } I = \sigma J \text{ for some } \sigma \in S^p \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

A permutation  $\sigma \in S^p$  applied to the *p*-tuple *J* thus corresponds to multiplication by  $\operatorname{sgn} \sigma \in \{\pm 1\}$  on  $e_J \in E_p$ , that is

$$e_{\sigma J} = (\operatorname{sgn} \sigma) e_J, \quad \forall \sigma \in S^p$$

$$(2.5)$$

In particular, all  $e_{\sigma J}$  with  $\sigma \in S^p$  are co-linear in  $E_p$  and  $(e_J)_{J \in \mathcal{I}_p^{\nu}}$  is a basis for the same vector space. For practical reasons, whenever J is an index ranging over  $\mathcal{I}_p^{\nu}$ , most commonly in a summation, we shall abbreviate [J] = p, leaving  $\nu$  understood from context.

Proceeding with our example, the function spaces  $C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_p)$  with  $E_p$  can be understood as spaces of *p*-forms over  $\Omega$ . The natural choice of basis for  $E_1$  are the 1-tensors  $(dx_j)_{j=1,\dots,\nu}$ , dual to  $(\partial_{x_j})_{j=1,\dots,\nu} \subset E_0$ . As such, the algebraic structure of  $C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_p)$  as a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -module over  $E_p$  means we are able to represent each  $\omega \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_p)$  uniquely as a sum

$$\omega = \sum_{[J]=p} f_J dx_J, \quad f_J \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(2.6)

taking values  $\omega(t) = \sum_{[J]=p} f_J(t) dx_J \in E_p$  for each  $t \in \Omega$ .

The differential operators  $d_p \in \text{Diff}(\Omega; E_p, E_{p+1})$  of the complex are the **exterior** derivatives. Given with respect to the standard coordinates  $(x_j)_{j=1...,\nu}$ , those are defined as

$$d_p\left(\sum_{[J]=p} f_J e_J\right) = \sum_{[J]=p} \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \partial_{x_k} f_J dx_k \wedge dx_I$$
(2.7)

This is equivalent to the the coordinate-free axiomatic approach of Proposition 1.9, which emphasizes the formal properties of the operator (notice the chain complex condition  $d_{j+1} \circ d_j = 0$  is precisely axiom (*ii*)). In terms of the coordinate-wise definition, the complex condition can be seen as a consequence of the commutativity property of partial derivatives of smooth functions, as will become clear in the computation of Lemma 2.14.

The sequence  $d \doteq (C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_j), d_j)$  is known as the **de Rham** complex. Taking the restriction of the exterior derivatives to the spaces of compactly supported smooth functions, another differential complex  $(C_c^{\infty}(\Omega, E_j), d_j)$  is produced.

#### Example 2.4 (Complex of *p*-currents).

We construct a differential complex similar to the previous one, where distributions take the role of smooth functions.<sup>3</sup> Here the *p*-th level  $\bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  of the complex will be a *p***current**, which essentially works as a *p*-form with distributional coefficients. Algebraically speaking,  $\bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  is still a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -module. The *p*-alternating tensors  $(dx_{[J]})_{[J]=p}$  from the previous example allow us to write a *p*-current  $u \in \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  uniquely as

$$u = \sum_{[J]=p} u_J dx_J, \quad u_J \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$$
(2.8)

which adds and multiplies by scalar values as one would expect. Furthermore, there is a bilinear wedge product operation that turns  $\bigwedge^{\bullet} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  into an exterior algebra. The construction mirrors the wedge product of differential forms in almost every aspect. An important distinction, however, is that  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  lacks the multiplicative structure of  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , so we have to settle for multiplication by  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in  $\bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ .

From an alternative, somewhat less artificial angle, we can understand *p*-currents through the dual relation they have with compactly supported  $(\nu - p)$ -forms. The bilinear pairing  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{D}'}$  in  $\Omega$  which evaluates distributions on test functions induces a bilinear map.

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega) \times \bigwedge^{\nu-p} C_{c}^{\infty}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{F}$$

which is uniquely determined (among bilinear maps) by the property

$$\forall J \in \mathcal{I}_p^{\nu}, I \in \mathcal{I}_{\nu-p}^{\nu}, \quad u_J \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega), \varphi_I \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(2.9)

$$\langle u_J dx_J, \varphi_I dx_I \rangle = \operatorname{sgn}(I, J) \langle u_J, \varphi_I \rangle_{\mathcal{D}'}$$
 (2.10)

where sgn(I, J) is 0 if  $I \cap J \neq \emptyset$  or equal to the  $\pm 1$  sign of the permutation  $(I, J) \in S^{\nu}$ otherwise. Then, a *p*-current  $u \in \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  corresponds to the continuous linear functional  $\langle u, \cdot \rangle : \bigwedge^{\nu-p} C_{c}^{\infty}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{C}$ . Finally, to match the topological space of distributions when p = 0, we endow  $\bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  with the weak-\* operator topology.

We remind that a function  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  can be identified in the space of distributions by regarding it as a continuous linear functional which acts on test functions  $\psi \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\Omega)$ by integration, that is,  $\langle f, \psi \rangle = \int f \psi$ . Now since  $C^{\infty}_{c}(\Omega)$  and  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  are included in  $L^1_{loc}$ , *p*-currents with distributional coefficients which correspond to smooth functions in  $\Omega$  can be identified with *p*-forms over  $\Omega$ , so that we have inclusions  $\bigwedge^p C^{\infty}_{c}(\Omega) \subset \bigwedge^p C^{\infty}(\Omega) \subset \bigwedge^p D'(\Omega)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The present example is not, strictly speaking, a differential complex as we defined in Definition 2.2. Still, it is not difficult to define complexes a bit more generally so as to include it – the important fact is  $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  continuously embeds as a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ . Currents will unavoidably appear when we consider distributional spaces of functions in the example models of the next sections, so we believe it is appropriate to introduce them sooner, in our general discussion, rather than later when our focus is on specific matters.

Once again, the chain maps  $d_p$  are given by formula (2.7). Of course, the symbols  $\partial^{\alpha}$ in this case are to be understood in the sense of distributions, that is, each  $\partial^{\alpha} f_I \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ in the formula is actually a continuous linear functional on  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  whose value on a compactly supported function  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is

$$\langle \partial^{\alpha} f_{I}, \varphi \rangle = (-1)^{|\alpha|} \langle f_{I}, \partial^{\alpha} \varphi \rangle$$
 (2.11)

The same computation we referred to in the previous example shows  $(\mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \bigwedge^p E_p), d_p)$  is a differential complex. In fact, a theorem of de Rham even shows the cohomologies of this complex and the one from the former example are naturally isomorphic.

Example 2.5 (Dolbeault complex).

Let  $\nu = 2n$  and consider  $\Omega = \mathbb{C}^n \cong \mathbb{R}^{\nu}$  identified through the natural isomorphism  $(a_1 + ib_1, \ldots, a_n + ib_n) \mapsto (a_1, \ldots, a_n, b_1, \ldots, b_n)$ . Then, the standard  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued coordinates  $(z_j)_{j=1,\ldots,n} \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  lead to a set of smooth real coordinates  $(x_j, y_j)_{j=1,\ldots,n}$  with  $z_j = x_j + iy_j$ . Similarly, we may consider the coordinates  $\bar{z}_j \doteq x_j - iy_j \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  coming from the isomorphism  $(a_1 - ib_1, \ldots, a_n - ib_n) \mapsto (a_1, \ldots, a_n, b_1, \ldots, b_n)$ . Since  $x_j = \frac{1}{2}(z_j + \bar{z}_j)$  and  $y_j = \frac{1}{2i}(z_j - \bar{z}_j)$ , the chain rule is suggestive of the following derivation rules with respect to the  $z_j$  and  $\bar{z}_j$  variables: given  $\phi \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , let

$$\partial_{z_j}\phi = \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_j}\frac{\partial x_j}{\partial z_j} + \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial y_j}\frac{\partial y_j}{\partial z_j} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x^j} - i\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial y^j}\right)$$
(2.12)

$$\partial_{\bar{z}_j}\phi = \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_j}\frac{\partial x_j}{\partial\bar{z}_j} + \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial y_j}\frac{\partial y_j}{\partial\bar{z}_j} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x^j} + i\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial y^j}\right)$$
(2.13)

so we formally define  $\partial_{z_j}, \partial_{\bar{z}_j} \in \mathbb{C}T\Omega$  using the RHS expressions above. Since  $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}}\langle \partial_{x_j}, \partial_{y_j} \rangle = T\Omega$ , we also have  $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\langle \partial_{z_j}, \partial_{\bar{z}_j} \rangle = \mathbb{C}T\Omega$  and a direct splitting into the subbundles

 $\mathbb{C}T\Omega = \mathbb{C}T^{1,0}\Omega \oplus \mathbb{C}T^{0,1}(\Omega), \text{ where}$ (2.14)

$$\mathbb{C}T^{1,0}\Omega \doteq \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\langle \partial_{z_j} \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{C}T^{0,1}(\Omega) \doteq \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\langle \partial_{\bar{z}_j} \rangle$$
(2.15)

By duality, the corresponding tensors  $(dz_j, d\bar{z}_j)_j$  are generators of  $\mathbb{C}T^*\Omega$ . Furthermore, in view of Lemma 1.10, the latter also splits into a direct sum of subbundles  $\Lambda^{1,0}(\Omega) \doteq \mathbb{C}T^{0,1}(\Omega)^{\perp}, \Lambda^{0,1}(\Omega) \doteq \mathbb{C}T^{1,0}(\Omega)^{\perp}$ , so 1-forms in  $\Omega$  decompose directly into a section of  $\Lambda^{0,1}(\Omega)$  plus a section of  $\Lambda^{1,0}(\Omega)$ . More generally, a complex k-form is a section  $\alpha \in \Gamma(\bigwedge^k \mathbb{C}T^*\Omega)$  of the k-th exterior power of  $\mathbb{C}T^*\Omega$ , which is a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -linear combination of tensors  $dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J$  with |I| + |J| = k. Let p, q such that p + q = k be fixed, a k-form written as

$$\alpha = \sum_{\substack{|I|=p\\|J|=q}} \alpha_{I,J} dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J, \quad \alpha_{I,J} \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(2.16)

is often referred to as a (p,q)-form on  $\Omega$ . Such elements constitute a set we denote  $\Lambda^{p,q}(\Omega)$ .

For each p and q fixed we define complexes

$$\Lambda^{0,q}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\partial} \Lambda^{1,q}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \dots$$
 (2.17)

$$\Lambda^{p,0}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}} \Lambda^{p,1}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \dots$$
 (2.18)

where  $\partial, \overline{\partial}$  have the following formulas

$$\partial \left(\sum_{\substack{|I|=p\\|J|=q}} \alpha_{I,J} dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J\right) = \sum_{\substack{|I|=p\\|J|=q}} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\|J|=q}}^n \partial_{z_j} \alpha_{I,J} dz_j \wedge dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J$$
(2.19)

$$\bar{\partial}\left(\sum_{\substack{|I|=p\\|J|=q}} \alpha_{I,J} dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J\right) = \sum_{\substack{|I|=p\\|J|=q}} \sum_{j=1}^n \partial_{\bar{z}_j} \alpha_{I,J} d\bar{z}_j \wedge dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J$$
(2.20)

Again, the commutativity of  $(\partial_{z_j})_j$  and  $(\partial_{\bar{z}_j})_j$  ensures  $\partial \circ \partial = \bar{\partial} \circ \bar{\partial} = 0$ .

Remark 2.6 (Relation with de Rham complex).

It should be noted for each j we have

$$\frac{\partial \alpha_{I,J}}{\partial z^j} dz_j + \frac{\partial \alpha_{I,J}}{\partial \bar{z}^j} d\bar{z}_j = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial \alpha_{I,J}}{\partial x^j} - i \frac{\partial \alpha_{I,J}}{\partial y^j} \right) (dx_j + i dy_j)$$
(2.21)

$$+\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\partial\alpha_{I,J}}{\partial x^j} + i\frac{\partial\alpha_{I,J}}{\partial y^j}\right)(dx_j - idy_j) = \frac{\partial\alpha_{I,J}}{\partial x^j}dx_j + \frac{\partial\alpha_{I,J}}{\partial y^j}dy_j$$
(2.22)

thus, from the defining expressions of  $\partial, \overline{\partial}$ , summing over j we have  $d = \partial + \overline{\partial}$ , where d is the exterior derivative of the de Rham complex. It then also follows  $\partial \circ \overline{\partial} = -\overline{\partial} \circ \partial$ , since  $(\partial + \overline{\partial}) \circ (\partial + \overline{\partial}) = 0.$ 

## 2.2 Principal symbol and ellipticity

Each  $\mathbb{F}$ -valued differential operator as in equation (2.3) induces a function we call the **symbol** (or total symbol) of P.<sup>4</sup> The part of order k of P is an homogeneous operator  $P^{(k)} \in \text{Diff}^k(M)$  where we only consider the terms in the representation which are associated to derivatives of order precisely k. If k > ord(P), then  $P^{(k)}$  is zero, of course. Thus P is decomposed as  $P^{(\text{ord}(P))} + \ldots + P^{(0)}$  where each of the symbols  $P^{(k)}$  is a homogeneous polynomial of order k on  $\xi$ .

The **principal symbol**  $\sigma_P$  of P will be the total symbol of  $P^{(\operatorname{ord}(P))}$ , that is

$$\sigma_P(\xi) = \sum_{|\alpha| = \operatorname{ord}(P)} a_{\alpha}(x)\xi^{\alpha}, \quad \xi \in T_x^*\Omega$$
(2.23)

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{{}^4 \quad \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{\nu}}$  being open, the cotangent bundle is trivially diffeomorphic to  $\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{\nu}$ 

The operator P is said of **elliptic** type if for each  $x \in \Omega$ , the only real root for  $\sigma_P(\xi)$  with  $\xi \in T_x^*\Omega$  is the trivial  $\xi = 0$ .

Let us see how those concepts are handled in the context of differential complexes.

**Definition 2.7** (Principal symbol of  $P \in \text{Diff}(\Omega; V, W)$ ). Consider as in Definition 2.1 that  $P \in \text{Diff}(\Omega; V, W)$  has a matrix representation  $[P] = (P_{jl}) \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times m}(\text{Diff}(\Omega))$  and let  $k \ge \max_{j,l} \text{ ord } P_{jl}$  be fixed. Then the principal symbol  $\sigma_P(x, \xi) \in \mathcal{L}(V, W)$  is the linear mapping where each entry (j, l) in matrix representation is given by  $\sigma_{P_{jl}^{(k)}}$ , that is, each entry is the principal symbol of the homogeneous part of order k of  $P_{jl}$ .

**Remark 2.8.** If  $\Omega$  is simply a smooth manifold, the coordinates  $\xi$  on the fibers of  $T^*\Omega$  depend on the choice of a local chart for  $\Omega$ . As such, the coordinate representation of P for a fixed order k can vary, which makes the total symbol of P unsuitable for coordinate-invariant properties. In the case of the principal symbol, however, we can work around this issue as follows.

Let  $k = \operatorname{ord}(P)$  and  $P \in \operatorname{Diff}(\Omega; V, W)$ . For each choices of  $u \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; V)$  and  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R})$ , we obtain a polynomial of degree k in W

$$\tau \mapsto e^{-i\tau f(x_0)} P(e^{i\tau f} u)(x_0) \in W$$
(2.24)

as we will readily see by taking coordinates. The operator P is represented by a combination

$$[P] = \sum_{|\alpha| \le k} \sum_{j,l} a_{jl}^{\alpha} [D_{jl}^{\alpha}], \quad a_{jl}^{\alpha} \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(2.25)

where  $[D_{jl}^{\alpha}] \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times m}(\text{Diff}(\Omega))$  is the elementary matrix with  $D^{\alpha}$  at row j and column l as its only non-zero entry. Then, if  $[v_l] \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times 1}(C^{\infty}(\Omega))$  is the coordinate representation of  $v \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; V)$ , we have

$$[D_{jl}^{\alpha}(v)]_p = \delta_{jp} D^{\alpha} v_l \tag{2.26}$$

thus, by linearity,

$$[P(e^{i\tau f}u)]_p = \sum_{|\alpha| \le k} \sum_{j,l} \left[ a_{jl}^{\alpha} D_{jl}^{\alpha} (e^{i\tau f}u) \right]_p = \sum_{|\alpha| \le k} \sum_l a_{pl}^{\alpha} D^{\alpha} (e^{i\tau f}u_l)$$
(2.27)

Now Leibniz's product rule (1.38) allows us to write for each multi-index  $\alpha$ 

$$D^{\alpha}(e^{i\tau f}u_l) = \tau^{|\alpha|}e^{i\tau f}df^{\alpha}u_l + \sum_{\beta < \alpha} C_{\beta}\tau^{|\beta|}e^{i\tau f}df^{\beta}D^{\alpha-\beta}u_l$$
(2.28)

Then, multiplying (2.27) by  $e^{i\tau f}$  and evaluating at  $x_0$ , we get (2.24) as sum of polynomial terms of  $\tau$  on each coordinate. The maximal order coefficients are the ones

associated to  $\tau^k$ , which are obtained from indices  $\alpha$  such that  $|\alpha| = k$ . If we single them out with (2.28) we get

$$e^{-i\tau f(x_0)} \left( \sum_{|\alpha|=k} \tau^{|\alpha|} e^{i\tau f} df^{\alpha} \sum_{l} (a_{pl}^{\alpha} u_l) \right) (x_0) =$$

$$(2.29)$$

$$\tau^{k} \sum_{|\alpha|=k} df(x_{0})^{\alpha} \left( a_{j\bullet}^{\alpha}(x_{0}) \cdot u(x_{0}) \right) = \tau^{k} \left( \sum_{|\alpha|=k} df(x_{0})^{\alpha} a_{j\bullet}(x_{0}), u(x_{0}) \right) \cdot u(x_{0})$$
(2.30)

In particular, we see that the coefficient of  $\tau^k$  in (2.24) depends on the choices of f and u only through the values of  $\xi \doteq df(x_0)$  and  $\eta \doteq u(x_0)$ , depending linearly on the latter. It is therefore legitimate to define the principal symbol of P based on those values, as we do in the following.

**Definition 2.9** ([Men23] Symbol). Let  $P \in \text{Diff}(\Omega; V, W)$ ,  $\xi \in T^*_{x_0}\Omega$  and  $k \ge \text{ord}(P)$ . The symbol  $\sigma^k_P(\xi)$  is the linear map  $V \to W$  given by

$$\sigma_P^k(\xi)(\eta) = \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{e^{-i\tau f(x_0)}}{\tau^k} P(e^{i\tau f} u)(x_0)$$
(2.31)

where  $u \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; V), f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R})$  are such that  $df(x_0) = \xi$  and  $u(x_0) = \eta$ .

**Remark 2.10.** The principal symbol of P refers exclusively to  $\sigma_P^k$  with  $k = \operatorname{ord}(P)$ . Still, in some contexts (such as Lemma 2.11), it is convenient to allow  $k > \operatorname{ord}(P)$ , in which case the definition above readily implies  $\sigma_P^k = 0$ .

It suffices to compare (2.29) with the statement of Definition 2.7 to convince ourselves that both definitions of principal symbol agree.

**Lemma 2.11.** Let  $P \in \text{Diff}^k(\Omega; V, W)$  and  $Q \in \text{Diff}^l(\Omega; W, X)$ , then for any  $\xi \in T^*\Omega$  the principal symbol of QP satisfies the relation  $\sigma_{QP}^{k+l}(\xi) = \sigma_Q^l(\xi) \circ \sigma_P^k(\xi)$ .

*Proof.* Given  $u \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; V)$  and  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R})$ , for each  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  we can write

$$\frac{1}{\tau^{k+l}}e^{-i\tau f}QP(e^{i\tau f}u) = \left(\frac{1}{\tau^{l}}e^{-i\tau f}Qe^{i\tau f}\right)\left(\frac{1}{\tau^{k}}e^{-i\tau f}Pe^{i\tau f}\right)u$$
(2.32)

By (2.31), we have the pointwise limit

$$\tau^{-k} e^{-i\tau f} P(e^{i\tau f}) u \xrightarrow{\tau \to \infty} \sigma_P^k(df)(u)$$
(2.33)

where 
$$\sigma_P^k(df)(u) : p \in \Omega \mapsto \sigma_P^k(df(p))(u(p)) \in W$$
 (2.34)

and, likewise, given  $v \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; W)$ ,

$$\tau^{-k} e^{-i\tau f} Q(e^{i\tau f}) v \xrightarrow{\tau \to \infty} \sigma_Q^l(df)(v)$$
(2.35)
Now let  $\xi \in T_{x_0}^*\Omega$  and  $\eta \in V$ , take  $u \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; V)$ ,  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R})$  related to  $\xi$  and  $\eta$  as in Definition 2.9. Substituting  $\sigma_P^k(df)u$  for v in (2.35), since the maps in (2.33) and (2.35) (from  $\Omega$  to V and W, respectively) are all smooth, the limit for the composition at the right-hand side of (2.32) evaluated at  $x_0$  simplifies to

$$\sigma_{QP}^{k+l}(\xi)(\eta) = \sigma_Q^l(df(p))(\sigma_P^k(\xi))(\eta) = (\sigma_Q^l(\xi) \circ \sigma_P^k(\xi))(\eta)$$
(2.36)

as we wanted.

**Definition 2.12.** Let  $P = (C^{\infty}(\Omega; E_j), P_j)_j$  be a differential complex as in Definition 2.2. By virtue of Lemma 2.11, we know for each  $\xi \in T^*\Omega$  the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow E_1 \xrightarrow{\sigma_{P_1}(\xi)} E_2 \xrightarrow{\sigma_{P_2}(\xi)} E_3 \xrightarrow{\sigma_{P_3}(\xi)} \cdots$$
(2.37)

is in fact a chain complex of vector spaces (meaning for any j,  $\sigma_{P_{j+1}}(\xi) \circ \sigma_{P_j}(\xi) = 0$ ). The operator P is then said **elliptic** if for all  $\xi \in T^*\Omega$  the induced sequence (2.37) is exact.

**Example 2.13** (de Rham complex). We show the de Rham complex from Example 2.3 is elliptic.

Let  $u \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^{p} \mathbb{C}^{\nu})$  be a *p*-form and  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , the product rule of the exterior derivative (cf. (i) in Proposition 1.9) leads to

$$\frac{1}{\tau}e^{i\tau f}d(e^{-i\tau f}u) = idf \wedge u + \frac{1}{\tau}du$$
(2.38)

so taking the limit of Definition 2.9 obtain the principal symbol  $\sigma_d(\xi) = i\xi \wedge \cdot$ .

Let us check the induced chain complex

$$0 \xrightarrow{i\xi \wedge \cdot} \mathbb{C}^{\nu} \xrightarrow{i\xi \wedge \cdot} \bigwedge^{1} \mathbb{C}^{\nu} \xrightarrow{i\xi \wedge \cdot} \bigwedge^{2} \mathbb{C}^{\nu} \xrightarrow{i\xi \wedge \cdot} \cdots$$
(2.39)

is exact for any given  $\xi$ . Indeed suppose we have  $\xi \in \bigwedge {}^{1}\mathbb{C}^{\nu} \setminus \{0\}$  and  $\alpha \in \bigwedge {}^{p}\mathbb{C}^{\nu}$  with  $i\xi \wedge \alpha = 0$ . Since  $\xi \neq 0$ , we can take a basis  $(e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_{\nu}) \in \bigwedge {}^{1}\mathbb{C}^{\nu}$  where  $e_1 = \xi$ . Then, we split  $\bigwedge^{p+1}\mathbb{C}^{\nu}$  into a direct sum

$$\bigwedge^{p+1} \mathbb{C}^{\nu} = \underbrace{\sup_{\substack{[J]=p+1\\1\in J}}^{E_j \doteq} \langle e_J \rangle}_{[J]=p+1} \oplus \underbrace{\sup_{\substack{[J]=p+1\\1\notin J}}^{F_j \doteq} \langle e_J \rangle}_{[J]=p+1}$$
(2.40)

Writing the action of  $i\xi \wedge \cdot$  in coordinates, it becomes clear  $i\xi \wedge \cdot$  restricted to  $F_j$  is injetive. All summands in the coordinate expression of  $i\xi \wedge \eta$  with  $\eta \in E_j$  vanish identically due to  $\xi \wedge \xi = 0$ , so that  $i\xi \wedge (E_j) = \{0\}$  as well. Thus, for each  $\alpha = \alpha_{E_j} + \alpha_{F_j}$  with  $(\alpha_{E_j}, \alpha_{F_j}) \in E_j \times F_j$ 

$$\xi \wedge \alpha = 0 \implies \xi \wedge \alpha_{F_j} = 0 \implies \alpha_{F_j} = 0 \tag{2.41}$$

Therefore  $\alpha = \alpha_{E_j} \in E_j$ . On the other hand, we easily see  $i\xi \wedge (F_{j-1}) = E_j$ , so  $\alpha \in \operatorname{ran} i\xi \wedge \cdots$ 

We then conclude ker  $i\xi \wedge \cdot = \operatorname{ran} i\xi \wedge \cdot$ , which is the condition for exactness.

# 2.3 Complexes determined by vector fields and involutive systems

Now suppose  $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{C}$  and  $\Omega$  is a smooth manifold of dimension N where a family of complex vector fields  $\mathbb{L} = (L_1, \ldots, L_{\nu}) \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  is defined. The elements of  $\mathbb{L}$  can be understood in agreement with Definition 2.1 as homogeneous differential operators  $C^{\infty}(\Omega) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  of order 1.

We set basic constraints on  $\mathbb{L} = (L_1, \ldots, L_\nu) \subset \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  leading towards two distinct goals. The first is to be able to define a differential complex

$$0 \xrightarrow{\mathbb{L}^{(0)}} C^{\infty}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{L}^{(1)}} C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^{1} \mathbb{C}^{\nu}) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{L}^{(2)}} C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^{2} \mathbb{C}^{\nu}) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{L}^{(3)}} \cdots$$
(2.42)

in the sense of Definition 2.2. Once we set reasonable formula for the differential maps, a necessary and sufficient condition over  $\mathbb{L}$ , to the end of making the sequence a complex, will readily follow – it is the mutual commutativity of the vector fields.

The other goal has to do with the inhomogeneous problems posed by overdetermined systems of equations such as

$$L_j u = f_j, \quad j = 1, \dots, \nu$$
 (2.43)

We establish a couple of conditions over  $\mathbb{L}$  that make an investigation of the basic matters concerning solutions feasible (existence, uniqueness, regularity, and so on). They are the following: the vector fields must be linearly independent pointwise, and the  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -linear span of the vector fields span the Lie algebra generated by those same elements. Together, they give the minimal working assumptions for the theory of involutive systems to develop, while also pointing towards certain subbundles of  $\mathbb{C}T\Omega$ , known as formally integrable structures, as the intrinsic objects of study in regards to overdetermined systems.

## From vector fields to a differential complex

Let  $(U, \mathbf{x})$  be a local chart of  $\Omega$  and denote  $(\partial_{x_j}) \subset \mathfrak{X}(U)$ ,  $(dx_j) \subset \Gamma(T^*U)$  the local generators obtained from such choice of coordinates. Elements of the family  $\mathbb{L}$  are then locally given by

$$L_j = \sum_{k=1}^N \alpha_{jk} \partial_{x_k} \tag{2.44}$$

for some uniquely determined coefficients  $\alpha_{jk} \in C^{\infty}(U)$ . As laid out in the introduction, our intention is to define a differential complex (2.42) out of  $\mathbb{L}$ . A reasonable starting point is to take  $\mathbb{L}^{(1)} \in \text{Diff}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{\nu}, \bigwedge^{1} \mathbb{C}^{\nu})$  given by

$$\mathbb{L}^{(1)}u = \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} L_j u \ e_j \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^1 T^*\Omega), \quad \forall f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$$
(2.45)

with  $(e_1, \ldots, e_{\nu})$  a basis for  $\mathbb{C}^{\nu}$ . Solutions to  $\mathbb{L}^{(1)}u = f$  are then equivalent to solutions to the overdetermined system (2.43) by means of the isomorphism  $C^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{\nu}) \cong C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^1 \mathbb{C}^{\nu})$ .

The operator just defined is remarkably similar to the differentials of the de Rham complex of Example 2.3; in fact, if  $\Omega$  is open and  $L_j = \partial_{x_j}$  with  $\nu = N$ , then  $\mathbb{L}^{(1)}$  in equation (2.45) is precisely the first level of the exterior derivative. With that in mind, we consider extending the construction to the remaining levels of the complex in accordance with (2.7), that is, by making

$$\mathbb{L}^{(p)}\left(\sum_{[I]=p-1}\alpha_I e_I\right) = \sum_{[I]=p-1}\sum_{k=1}^{\nu} (L_k\alpha_I) e_k \wedge e_I, \quad \alpha_I \in C^{\infty}(U)$$
(2.46)

Doing so certainly makes (2.42) a sequence of first order differential maps. The question to be settled, then, is under which circumstances the definition above gives a differential complex.

**Lemma 2.14.** Let  $\mathbb{L} = (L_1, \ldots, L_{\nu}) \subset \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  be a family of vector fields and  $\mathbb{L}^{(p)}$ :  $C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^{p-1} \mathbb{C}^{\nu}) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^p \mathbb{C}^{\nu})$  the linear mappings given by (2.46), then (2.42) is a complex if and only if,  $[L_k, L_l] = 0$  for each  $k, l = 1, \ldots, \nu$ .

Proof. Let 
$$\alpha = \sum_{[I]=p-1} \alpha_I e_I \in C^{\infty}(\Omega; \bigwedge^{p-1} \mathbb{C}^{\nu})$$
, then (2.46) leads to  

$$\mathbb{L}^{(p+1)} \mathbb{L}^{(p)} \alpha = \sum_{k,l=1}^{\nu} \sum_{[I]=j-1} L_l(L_k \alpha_I) e_l \wedge e_k \wedge e_I \qquad (2.47)$$

$$=\sum_{l
(2.48)$$

Hence,  $[L_k, L_l] = 0$  suffices to ensure  $\mathbb{L}^{(p+1)}\mathbb{L}^{(p)} = 0$ .

Conversely, if the linear operators do form a complex, then in particular at p = 1the expression in the last equation simplifies to

$$\mathbb{L}^{(2)}\mathbb{L}^{(1)}f = \sum_{l< k}^{\nu} [L_l, L_k]f \ e_l \wedge e_k = 0$$
(2.49)

for each  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . Now given  $(e_l \wedge e_k)_{l < k}$  is a basis  $\bigwedge^2 \mathbb{C}^{\nu}$  and f varies freely, we conclude  $[L_k, L_l] = 0$  for all  $k \neq l$ .

## Involutive systems

We now present the assumptions made for overdetermined systems such as (2.43).

The special case of a single real vector field already provides some direction. Suppose L is defined in a neighborhood of the origin in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with local representation

$$L = \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_j \partial_{x_j} \tag{2.50}$$

If L is non-vanishing at 0, we can define coordinates  $y_1, \ldots, y_N$  near the origin so that  $L = \partial_{y_1}$ . Indeed, assuming we have  $a_1(0) \neq 0$ , that amounts to solving a Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{y_1} x_j = a_j(x_1, \dots, x_N), & j \in \{1, \dots, N\} \\ x_1(0, y_2, \dots, y_N) = 0 \\ x_1(0, y_2, \dots, y_N) = y_j, & j \in \{2, \dots, N\} \end{cases}$$
(2.51)

Since  $a_1(0) \neq 0$ ,  $(y_1, \ldots, y_N) \rightarrow (x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  is a smooth local diffeomorphism, the (local) inverse  $(x_1, \ldots, x_N) \rightarrow (y_1, \ldots, y_N)$  exists and attains to  $L = \partial_{y_j}$  as we wanted. The problem of solving Lu = f near the origin can be thus be solved by integration with respect to  $y_1$ . The assumption of L non-vanishing at the origin is crucial – nothing can be asserted in general otherwise.

Then, at least in the real setting, the basic requirement for the existence of local solutions to a vector field equation is that  $L \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  is non-vanishing at the origin. More generally, for a number  $n \ge 1$  of real vector fields, Frobenius' theorem states that for each point there are coordinates  $y_1, \ldots, y_n$  such that  $\operatorname{span}(L_j) = \operatorname{span}(\partial_{y_j})$  locally, as long as  $L_1, \ldots, L_n$  are linearly independent pointwise (cf. [BCH08, Theorem 5.1]). Considering the case of complex vector fields is more general than the real case, we have motivated the following condition on  $\mathbb{L}$  as a necessary one.

**Definition 2.15.** The family  $\mathbb{L} = (L_1, \ldots, L_{\nu}) \subset \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  is said of **principal type** if for each  $p \in \Omega$  the families of vectors  $((L_1)_p, \ldots, (L_{\nu})_p) \subset \mathbb{C}T_p\Omega$  are linearly independent.

**Remark 2.16.** Clearly the maximum number of vector fields in a family of principal type is bounded by the dimension of the manifold, i.e.  $\nu \leq N$  in the definition above. Also evident is the fact that  $\nu = N$  can occur in the chart domains  $U \subset \Omega$ , since the standard Euclidean coordinate fields pull-back to a local basis in  $\mathfrak{X}(U)$ . In general, however, the maximum number of vector fields in a principal type family is particular to the manifold  $\Omega$ under consideration. For example, in the real case, it is well known that the spheres  $S^N$ with N even forbid globally defined, non-vanishing vector fields, so that  $\nu = 0$  is already the maximal constant. On the other hand, again in the real case, the class of parallelizable manifolds, which includes the tori  $\mathbb{T}^N$  and the sphere  $S^3$ , can be characterized by the existence of a principal type family with  $\nu$  equal to the dimension of the manifold (see [Lee13, p.179] for further details).

For the second requirement, consider the system of equations (2.43) determined by  $\mathbb{L}$  in the homogeneous case  $f_j = 0, j = 1, ..., \nu$ . Let  $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  be the set of vector fields L such that u solving the system implies Lu = 0. Then

$$L, M \in \mathcal{L} \implies \forall u, \ [L, M]u = L(Mu) - M(Lu) = 0 \implies [L, M] \in \mathcal{L}$$
 (2.52)

so  $\mathcal{L}$  is closed with respect to the bracket operation, and thus a Lie algebra. Furthermore, it easy to see  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -linearly closed. It may well be the case that the Lie algebra generated by the family  $\mathbb{L}$  is strictly larger than its  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -linear span. Therefore, if we want make  $\mathbb{L}$  a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ -linear basis for  $\mathcal{L}$ , we might need to complete it by adjoining vector fields from  $\mathcal{L}$ . However, such process may prove incompatible with the principal type condition over  $\mathcal{L}$ , as the next example demonstrates. Therefore, working simultaneously with both conditions over  $\mathbb{L}$  requires an assumption from the outset.

**Definition 2.17.** The family of complex vector fields  $\mathbb{L} = (L_1, \ldots, L_{\nu}) \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  is said *involutive* if it is of principal type and satisfies the Frobenius condition:

$$\forall j, k, \ [L_j, L_k] \in \operatorname{span}_{C^{\infty}(\Omega)} \mathbb{L}$$
(2.53)

#### Example 2.18.

Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3$  and  $\mathbb{L} = (L_1, L_2) = (\partial_{x_1}, \partial_{x_2} + x_1 x_3 \partial_{x_3})$ , then  $\mathbb{L}$  is of principal type, but cannot be extended to an involutive family while remaining within the same Lie sub-algebra. Indeed,  $(L_1, L_2)$  generates a proper Lie algebra of  $\mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ , with linear basis  $(L_1, L_2, L_3)$  where  $L_3 \doteq [L_1, L_2] = x_3 \partial_{x_3} \notin \operatorname{span}(L_1, L_2)$ . However, to adjoin a vector field to  $(L_1, L_2)$  while maintaining pointwise linear independence we need the linear span of the fields at 0 to be  $\mathbb{C}T_0\Omega \supseteq \operatorname{span}(\partial_{x_1}|_0, \partial_{x_2}|_0)$ .

## 2.4 Involutive structures

The properties pertaining to the solutions of locally defined overdetermined systems such as (2.43) do not vary either by a change of coordinates nor by diffeomorphic transformations. Therefore, if we want to regard those systems in an intrinsic manner, we must concern ourselves with the vector bundles generated by the principal type families, rather than the vector fields themselves. From now on, this is the perspective we adopt.

**Definition 2.19.** A complex vector bundle  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{C}T\Omega$  is said a formally integrable structure over  $\Omega$  if for each  $W \subset \Omega$  open we have

$$[L, M] \in \Gamma(\mathbb{C}TU \cap \mathcal{V}) \text{ whenever } L, M \in \Gamma(\mathbb{C}TU \cap \mathcal{V})$$

$$(2.54)$$

In that case,  $(\Omega, \mathcal{V})$  is said an *involutive structure*.

Let  $\mathcal{V}$  be a formally integrable structure of rank n, then for each local chart  $(U, \mathbf{x})$ we get generators  $L_1, \ldots, L_n \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$  for  $\mathcal{V} \cap \mathbb{C}TU$ . Writing the vector fields as

$$L_j = \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} a_{jk} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$$
(2.55)

the condition of linear independence implies the matrices  $(a_{jk}(x)) \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times \nu}$  are of maximal rank for each  $x \in \Omega$ . Also notice that, since  $L_1, \ldots, L_n$  are generators, there exists smooth coefficients  $c_{jk}^l \in C^{\infty}(U)$  such that  $\forall j, k$ ,

$$[L_j, L_k] = \sum_l c_{jk}^l L_l \tag{2.56}$$

**Definition 2.20** (Characteristic set). Let  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{C}T\Omega$  be a formally integrable structure over  $\Omega$ , the characteristic set  $\mathcal{V}^0$  of  $\mathcal{V}$  is the subset of the (real) cotangent bundle which is orthogonal to  $\mathcal{V}$  through their natural duality, that is

$$\mathcal{V}^0 \doteq \mathcal{V}^\perp \cap T^*\Omega \tag{2.57}$$

The symbol of a vector field  $L \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$  is the mapping

$$\sigma_L : \xi \in T_p^* \Omega \subset T^* \Omega \mapsto \xi(L_p) \tag{2.58}$$

Therefore, we have  $\xi \in \mathcal{V}^0$  if and only if  $\sigma_L(\xi)$  vanishes for every  $L \in \Gamma(\mathcal{V})$ .

**Remark 2.21.** Take  $(U, (x_1, \ldots, x_N))$  a local chart on  $\Omega$  and  $\xi \in T_p^*\Omega$  a covector at  $p \in U$ . Writing with respect to those coordinates  $\xi = \sum_j \xi_j (dx_j)_p$  and  $L = \sum_j \alpha_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$ , the expression for the symbol becomes

$$\sigma_L(\xi) = \xi(L_p) = \left\langle \sum_j \xi_j(dx_j)_p, \sum_k \alpha_k(p) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \right\rangle = \sum_j \alpha_j(p)\xi_j$$
(2.59)

Then, if  $(L_j)_{j=1,\dots,\nu}$  given by  $L_j = \sum_k a_{jk} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$  are linearly independent local generators of  $\mathcal{V}$ , the characteristic set in the vicinity  $\mathcal{V}^0 \cap T^*U$  is described by a system of equations

$$\sum_{k} a_{jk}(p)\xi_k = 0, \quad (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ j = 1, \dots, \nu$$
(2.60)

Notice that this definition of symbol for vector fields agrees with the one we gave for vector valued differential operators in Definition 2.7 and Definition 2.9. Furthermore, if  $(L_1, \ldots, L_{\nu})$  commute, and therefore define a differential complex  $\mathbb{L}$  (as we described in Section 2.3), then a solution  $(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_N)$  to the system of equations (2.60) is equivalent to the equality

$$\ker \sigma_{\mathbb{L}^1}(\xi) = \operatorname{ran} \sigma_{\mathbb{L}^0}(\xi) = \{0\}$$
(2.61)

in the chain complex induced by  $\xi = \sum_{j} \xi_{j}(dx_{j})_{p}$  of (2.37). Said differently, a given  $\xi \in T^{*}\Omega$ will be in  $\mathcal{V}^{0} \cap T^{*}\Omega$  iff the complex (2.37) induced by  $\mathbb{L}$  and  $\xi \in T^{*}\Omega$  in (2.37) is exact at  $E_{1} = \bigwedge^{1} \mathbb{C}^{N}$ .

**Example 2.22** (Mizohata operator). Denote (t, x) the standard coordinates in  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$ . The Mizohata operator is the complex vector field

$$M = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - ix \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{R}^2)$$
(2.62)

Since it doesn't vanish anywhere, M defines a locally integrable structure  $\mathcal{V}$ . The equation for its symbol  $\sigma(M)_{(t,x)}(\xi,\tau) = \xi - ix\tau$  does not contain any real roots  $(\xi,\tau) \neq 0$  unless x = 0. Therefore the characteristic set of M is given by

$$\mathcal{V}_{(t,x)}^{0} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } x \neq 0 \\ \text{span } dt_{(t,x)}, & \text{if } x = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.63)

In particular, we see the characteristic set is not necessarily a submanifold.

We give names for structures  $\mathcal{V}$  with special algebraic properties on the vector space structures of its fibers.

**Definition 2.23** (Special structure types [BCH08, I.8, p 15]). Let  $\mathcal{V}$  be a formally integrable structure over  $\Omega$ , we say  $\mathcal{V}$  defines

- an elliptic structure if  $\mathcal{V}_p^0 = 0, \ \forall p \in \Omega$
- a complex structure if  $\mathcal{V}_p \oplus \overline{\mathcal{V}}_p = \mathbb{C}T_p\Omega, \forall p \in \Omega$
- a CR structure if  $\mathcal{V}_p \cap \overline{\mathcal{V}}_p = 0, \ \forall p \in \Omega$
- an essentially real structure if  $\mathcal{V}_p = \overline{\mathcal{V}}_p, \ \forall p \in \Omega$

A few remarks are due here. Notice that a complex structure is a special type of both elliptic and CR structures. Indeed,  $\mathcal{V}_p \cap \overline{\mathcal{V}}_p = 0$  is the precondition to have a direct sum, while

$$\mathcal{V}_p \oplus \overline{\mathcal{V}}_p = \mathbb{C}T_p\Omega \implies \overline{\mathcal{V}}_p^{\perp} \oplus \mathcal{V}_p^{\perp} = 0 \implies \mathcal{V}_p^{\perp} = 0 \tag{2.64}$$

shows complex structures are elliptic. The name CR is short for Cauchy-Riemann, in reference to the quintessential example of the sub-bundles  $\mathbb{C}T^{1,0}$ ,  $\mathbb{C}T^{0,1}$  defined in the construction of the Dolbeault complex in Example 2.5. Finally, the defining property of essentially real structures makes it so that real vector fields can be taken as local generators. To be sure, let  $L_1, \ldots, L_n$  be local generators of  $\mathcal{V}$  near a point p, then  $\mathcal{V}$  essentially real implies (Re  $L_j$ , Im  $L_j$ )<sub> $j=1,\ldots,n$ </sub> are still sections of  $\mathcal{V}$ . Furthermore, n out of those span  $\mathcal{V}_p$  at p. Since the rank of the subspaces generated pointwise by the vector fields must remain constant in a neighborhood, we conclude they define a set of local, real generators of  $\mathcal{V}$ .

**Example 2.24** (The boundary operator on a hypersurface). Let  $\Omega = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^p : \sum_j |z_j|^2 = 1\}$  be the unit sphere regarded as an embedded manifold of codimension 1 in  $\mathbb{C}^p \cong \mathbb{R}^{2p}$ . With coordinates  $(z_j, \bar{z}_j)_{j=1,...,p}$  as in Example 2.5, we consider the vector fields in  $\operatorname{span}_{C^{\infty}(\Omega)}(\partial_{\bar{z}_j})_{j=1,...,p} \subset \mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{C}^p)$  which are also tangent to  $\Omega$  and build a corresponding differential complex on  $\Lambda^{0,\bullet}(\Omega)$ .

The sphere  $\Omega$  is implicitly given by the equation r(z) = 0, where  $r(z) = \sum_j z_j \bar{z}_j - 1$ . The 1-form  $dr = \sum_j \bar{z}_j dz_j + z_j d\bar{z}_j \in \Gamma(\mathbb{C}T^*\Omega)$  is therefore a generator of  $\mathbb{C}T^*\Omega$  and, given  $v \in T_w \mathbb{C}^p$  with  $w \in \Omega$ , tangency to  $\Omega$  is equivalent to  $\langle dr, v \rangle = 0$ .

Define for  $\nu = 1, \ldots, p-1$  the vector fields

$$L_j \doteq z_p \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z_j}} - z_j \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z_p}} \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{C}^p)$$
(2.65)

and notice for each  $k = 1, \ldots, p - 1$ ,

$$\langle dr, L_k \rangle = \sum_j (z_j d\bar{z}_j + \bar{z}_j dz_j) \left( z_p \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_k} - z_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_p} \right) = z_k z_p - z_p z_k = 0$$
(2.66)

Therefore, each  $L_j$  actually restricts to a vector field over  $\Omega$ . Moreover, disregarding the set of points where  $z_p = 0$ , the family  $(L_1, \ldots, L_{p-1})$  is pointwise linearly independent and, for all j, k, its elements satisfy the relation

$$[L_j, L_k] = \left[ z_p \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z_j}} - z_j \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z_p}}, z_p \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z_k}} - z_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z_p}} \right] = 0$$
(2.67)

thus defining an involutive family over  $\Omega \setminus \{z_p = 0\}$ .

To generate a differential complex, we select 1-forms  $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_{p-1} \in \operatorname{span}_{C^{\infty}(\Omega)}(d\bar{z}_j)$ (sections of  $\Lambda^{0,1}(\mathbb{C}^p)$  cf. Example 2.5) in dual relation to the vector fields (2.66), that is,

$$\omega_k = \sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_{kj} d\bar{z}_j, \quad \alpha_{kj} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}^p)$$
(2.68)

such that 
$$\omega_k(L_j) = \delta_{kj}, \quad (k = 1, \dots, p-1, \ j = 1, \dots, p-1)$$
 (2.69)

Substituting the expressions (2.68) and (2.65) for each equation given by (2.69), we obtain the following general solutions for the coefficients with  $j \neq p$ 

$$\omega_k(L_j) = \alpha_{kj} z_p - z_j \alpha_{kp} = \delta_{jk} \implies \alpha_{kj} = \frac{\delta_{kj} + z_j \alpha_{kp}}{z_p}$$
(2.70)

which depend solely on the choices of  $(\alpha_{kp})_{k=1,\dots,p-1} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}^p)$ .

Now let  $(\omega_k), (\widetilde{\omega}_k)$  be 1-forms in  $\Lambda^{0,1}(\mathbb{C}^p)$  corresponding different choices of  $(\beta_k), (\widetilde{\beta}_k)$ for the free coefficients  $(\alpha_{kp})_{k=1,\dots,p-1}$ . Then, by (2.70) we may write

$$\omega_k - \widetilde{\omega}_k = \sum_j \frac{z_j}{z_p} (\beta_k - \widetilde{\beta}_k) d\bar{z}_j = \frac{\beta_k - \widetilde{\beta}_k}{z_p} \sum_j z_j d\bar{z}_j$$
(2.71)

Notice the 1-form  $\sum_j z_j d\bar{z}_j$  vanishes on  $\mathbb{C}T^{0,1}\Omega$ . Indeed, if  $v = \sum_k \gamma_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_k} \in \mathbb{C}T_w^{0,1}\Omega$  for some  $w \in \Omega$ , then

$$\langle dr, v \rangle = \sum_{k} \gamma_k(w) z_k = 0 \implies \sum_{j} z_j d\bar{z}_j(v) = \sum_{j} \gamma_j(w) z_j = 0$$
 (2.72)

Therefore,  $\omega_k - \tilde{\omega}_k$  restricted to  $\mathbb{C}T^{0,1}\Omega$  is zero and we conclude the duality between  $(\omega_k)$ and  $(L_j)$ , as established by the system of equations (2.69), determines a unique 1-form  $\omega_j^p \in \Lambda^{0,1}(\Omega)$ . Thus we may choose, for instance,  $\alpha_{kp} = 0$   $(k = 1, \ldots, p - 1)$  for the free coefficients, so that  $\omega_j^p = \frac{1}{z_p} d\bar{z}_j$ .

Define the differential operator  $\overline{\partial_b^p}$  as follows – given  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega \setminus \{z_p = 0\}, \mathbb{C})$ ,

$$\overline{\partial_b^p} f = \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} (L_j f) \omega_j^p \tag{2.73}$$

Notice this defines  $\overline{\partial_b^p}$  intrinsically by virtue of the fact  $(L_j)$  and  $(\omega_j)$  were chosen as duals.

Of course, p had a privileged role in our construction and, in the same fashion, we can replace p with  $q = 1, \ldots, p - 1$ , obtaining similar vector fields  $L_j^q = z_q \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_j} - z_j \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_q}$ , 1-forms  $\omega_j^q = \frac{1}{z_q} d\bar{z}_j$  and differential operators

$$\overline{\partial_b^q} f = \sum_{j \neq q} (L_j^q f) \omega_j^q, \quad f \in C^\infty(\Omega \setminus \{z_q = 0\}, \mathbb{C})$$
(2.74)

Let  $r, s \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$  and  $z_r, z_s \neq 0$ , then

$$(\overline{\partial_b^r} - \overline{\partial_b^s})f = \sum_j \frac{1}{z_r} \left( z_r \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_j} - z_j \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_r} \right) d\overline{z}_j - \frac{1}{z_s} \left( z_s \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_j} - z_j \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_s} \right) d\overline{z}_j$$
(2.75)

$$= \left(\frac{1}{z_q}\frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_q} - \frac{1}{z_p}\frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_p}\right)\sum_j z_j d\bar{z}_j$$
(2.76)

and once again the factor  $\sum_j z_j d\bar{z}_j$  vanishes in  $\Omega$ .<sup>5</sup> Since the domains  $\Omega \setminus \{z_r = 0\}$  cover  $\Omega$  and agree at their intersections, we arrive at a single, globally defined operator  $\bar{\partial}_b$ , which leads to the complex

$$C^{\infty}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}_b} \Lambda^{0,1}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}_b} \Lambda^{0,2}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}_b} \cdots$$

#### Locally integrable structures

**Definition 2.25.** A complex subbundle  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{C}T\Omega$  of rank n and corank m = N - n is said a **locally integrable structure** if  $\Omega$  has an open covering  $(U_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$  where each bundle  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{C}T^*U_{\alpha}$  is generated by exact differentials of local smooth functions. More precisely, for all  $\alpha$  there are  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_m \in C^{\infty}(U_{\alpha})$  such that

$$\operatorname{span}\langle (dZ_1)_p, \dots, (dZ_m)_p \rangle = \mathcal{V}_p^{\perp}, \forall p \in U_\alpha$$

$$(2.77)$$

If u is a local smooth function of  $\Omega$ , the definition of  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp}$  says du is a local section of  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp}$  iff du(L) = Lu = 0 for all  $L \in \Gamma(\mathcal{V})$ . This implies  $\mathcal{V}$  must be formally integrable as

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{}^{5}$  notice we can include the indexes j = r and j = s in the expression of (2.75) without affecting the sum

well: if L, M are local sections of  $\mathcal{V}$ , then  $[L, M]Z_j = L(MZ_j) - ML(Z_j) = 0$ ; since those are local generators, it follows that any local sections of  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp}$  vanish at [L, M]. Therefore, [L, M] is a local section of  $\mathcal{V}$  as well.

Local integrability of a formally integrable structure  $\mathcal{V}$  can thus be reinterpreted as a statement of existence of a maximal set of solutions: for each homogeneous problem defined by a local set of generators of  $\mathcal{V}$ , a full set of m independent local solutions exists. From this viewpoint, we arrive at the following characterization.

**Proposition 2.26.** A formally integrable structrure  $\mathcal{V}$  is locally integrable iff for any  $p \in \Omega$ and  $L_1, \ldots, L_n$  local generators of  $\mathcal{V}$  we have  $U_\alpha \ni p$  such that  $\exists Z_1, \ldots, Z_m \in C^\infty(U_\alpha)$  with

 $dZ_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dZ_m \neq 0$  everywhere in  $U_{\alpha}$  (2.78)

and 
$$L_j Z_k = 0 \quad \forall j, k$$
 (2.79)

## Local generators

There are many possible choices of local coordinates on  $\Omega$  and local generators for  $\mathcal{V}$ and  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp}$ . By using a structural decomposition of complex vector subspaces in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  ([BCH08, p. 17, Lemma 8.5]) one can choose local generators in a standard simplified form. Naturally, it is only in the case of locally integrable structures that we can induce coordinates on  $\mathcal{V}$ and  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp}$  simultaneously.

**Remark 2.27.** With the exception of CR structures, all other types of formally integrable structures presented in Definition 2.23 are locally integrable as well. The fact that complex structures are locally integrable is a key result known as the Newlander-Nirenberg theorem. There are known explicit examples of CR structures that are not locally integrable, but the proofs are quite involved (see [BCH08, Section I.16]).

We will avoid the technicalities and present the result of interest right away.

**Theorem 2.28** ([BCH08, Corollary I.10.2]). Let  $\mathcal{V}$  be a locally integrable structure of rank nand corank m over  $\Omega$ . Then given  $p \in \Omega$  there is a coordinate system  $(t_1, \ldots, t_n, x_1, \ldots, x_m)$ from a chart (U, (t, x)) centered at p such that  $\mathcal{V}^{\perp}$  is spanned by the differentials of

$$Z_k(x,t) = x_k + i\phi_k(t,x), \quad k = 1,\dots,m$$
 (2.80)

near the origin for some real-valued smooth functions  $\phi_k \in C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}}(U)$  satisfying

$$\phi_k(0,0) = 0, \ d_x \phi_k(0,0) = 0, \quad k = 1,\dots,m$$
(2.81)

Writing  $Z(t,x) = (Z_1(t,x), \ldots, Z_m(t,x))$ , notice (2.80) and (2.81) imply  $D_x Z(0,0)$ (the Jacobian matrix restricted to the *x*-variables) is the  $m \times m$  identity. Then, we can choose smooth complex coefficients  $(\mu_{kl})$  near the origin so as to satisfy the relations

$$M_k Z_l = \delta_{kl} \tag{2.82}$$

with the vector fields

$$M_k = \sum_{l=1}^m \mu_{kl}(t, x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_l}, \quad k = 1, \dots, m$$
(2.83)

Now setting

$$L_j \doteq \partial_{t_j} - i \sum_{k=1}^m (\partial_{t_j} \phi_k) M_k, \quad j = 1, \dots, n,$$
(2.84)

equation (2.82) implies  $L_j Z_k = \partial_{t_j} Z_k - i \partial_{t_j} M_j = 0$ . Furthermore, writing the coordinate matrix for the vector fields, it is clear that  $L_1, \ldots, L_n, M_1, \ldots, M_m$  are linearly independent and thus span  $\mathbb{C}T\mathbb{R}^{m+n}$  near the origin, with  $L_1, \ldots, L_n$  generators for  $\mathcal{V}$ .

A tube structure  $\mathcal{V}$  corresponds to the case where the  $\phi_k$  from (2.80) does not depend on x, so we can write  $Z_k = x_k + i\phi_k(t)$ . Then,  $D_x Z(x, t)$  is the identity and we can take  $M_k = \partial_{x_k}$  to solve for (2.82). The resulting expression for the vector fields  $L_j$  then becomes

$$L_j = \partial_{t_j} - i \sum_{k=1}^m (\partial_{t_j} \phi_k(t)) \partial_{x_k}$$
(2.85)

and one can easily verify, using the coordinate expression (1.16) for the Lie bracket operation, that  $L_1, \ldots, L_n, M_1, \ldots, M_m$  are mutually commutative. In particular,  $L_1, \ldots, L_n$  are local generators for an involutive structure with a corresponding complex of differential operators, as determined in Section 2.3.

We shall investigate, in the next two chapters, how questions of solvability are handled for differential complexes related to this type of structure.

# 3 A model with complex coefficients

# 3.1 Definition

The system under study is obtained from a family  $(P_j)$  of  $\nu$  operators acting over generalized functions of variables  $(t, x) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , for some  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{\nu}$  open. Each  $P_j$ corresponds to a smooth function from t to a symbol  $(x, \xi) \mapsto b_j(t, \xi)$  in  $S^1(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ (Definition 1.22) which is constant with respect to x. Writing  $b_j(t, D_x)$  for the operator associated to the symbol  $b_j(t, \xi)$ , the operators  $(P_j)$  are given by

$$P_j u = (\partial_{t_j} - b_j(t, D_x))u \tag{3.1}$$

$$= \int_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} (\partial_{t_j} - b_j(t,\xi)) \widehat{u} \, d\xi, \quad j = 1, \dots, \nu$$
(3.2)

where  $\hat{u}$  is the partial Fourier transform of u with respect to x (as will always be the case in the present chapter).

The operators act on distributions over  $\Omega$  with values in a topological vector space E, the elements of which are generalized functions of x. A few requirements will be placed over the family of symbols. For now, it should be noted each  $P_j$  is a constant coefficients vector field with respect to t and a pseudo-differential operator with respect to x.

#### The function spaces

To give a suitable domain for the operators  $(P_j)$ , we will need spaces of *p*-currents which take value in a topological vector space *E*. This is a generalization of the construction we encountered in Example 2.4, difference being the codomain *E*, which was assumed to be the complex field  $\mathbb{C}$  previously.

Let E be a locally convex Hausdorff TVS over the complex field, the space of E-valued p-currents over  $\Omega$  is denoted  $\bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E)$ , or simply  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E)$  when p = 0. Starting from the latter, a 0-current is a continuous linear mapping  $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega) \to E$ , where  $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is to be equipped with the usual inductive limit topology which turns it into a complete locally convex TVS. Now let p > 0, analogously to (2.8), we represent  $u \in \bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E)$  by combining coefficients in  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E)$  with alternating tensors in the variable t, that is,

$$u = \sum_{[J]=p} u_J dt_J, \quad u_J \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E)$$
(3.3)

Again, an alternate description is possible. There is a bilinear mapping  $\bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E) \times \bigwedge^{\nu-p} C_c^{\infty}(\Omega; E) \to E$ , which comes from the dual pairing  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E) \times C_c^{\infty}(\Omega; E) \to E$  defined

mutatis mutandis as in (2.9). The space of *p*-currents with values over *E* is then naturally identified with the space of continuous linear mappings  $\bigwedge^{\nu-p} C_c^{\infty}(\Omega; E) \to E$ .

#### The value spaces

Let us move on to the definition of the value spaces, referred to as E so far. The Fourier-transform on the variable x will be the basic starting point of all our investigations, but obtaining solutions requires not only the Fourier transform to be well-defined, but also a condition of local integrability allowing Fourier inversion. As usual, this is a problem of asymptotic decay. We can set those difficulties aside for now without losing any generality by considering the problem in a space of currents valued in a formal space of generalized functions, characterized by being mapped homeomorphically to  $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  through the Fourier transform. Such value space will be suggestively denoted  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , or  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{loc}$ for short. We qualify them as formal because they lack the properties of localization commonly known in the setting of distributions.

Let  $(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \tau)$  be the topological space of Schwartz functions in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the subspace topology induced by  $L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see Definition 1.12). Since the Fourier transform is bijective from  $\mathcal{S}$  to  $\mathcal{S}$  (Proposition 1.15), the topology  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}\tau = \{\mathcal{F}^{-1}(U) : U \in \tau\}$  makes  $\mathcal{F}$  :  $(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mathcal{F}^{-1}\tau) \to (\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \tau)$  a homeomorphism. The topological space  $E \doteq \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is then defined as the completion of  $(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mathcal{F}^{-1}\tau)$ . Given  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a dense subset and  $L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  complete ([Maz11, p.2]), the Fourier transform extends to a linear homeomorphism  $\mathcal{F}: \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .<sup>1</sup>

Later on, we replace  $E = L^1_{loc}$  with Sobolev spaces and define the type of solvability we intend to verify. Then, we must determine if the formal solutions obtained at first are appropriate.

## 3.2 Construction of the differential complex

Let  $\mathbb{P} = \{P_1, \ldots, P_\nu\}$  be the family of pseudo-differential operators introduced in (3.1). We would like to construct a corresponding differential complex like the one we made for involutive systems in Section 2.3. Of course, the results obtained there are not readily available to us because the domain differs and our operators are no longer differential. Still, the same genera approach can be repeated. Referring to Example 2.4, we aim to construct a differential complex  $(\mathbb{P}^{(p)}, \bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{\text{loc}}))_p$  where p = 0 encodes the overdetermined system of equations  $P_j u = f_j, \ j = 1, \ldots, \nu$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Since the spaces  $L^1_{loc}$  are non-metrizable, the completion invoked in our construction only makes sense in the context of topological vector spaces. This is no issue here: if a TVS is Hausdorff, the existence and uniqueness (up to an isomorphism) theorem of the completion says just as much as in the metric case. See [Tre67, p. 41 Theorem 5.2] for details.

Write  $u \in \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^{1}_{\text{loc}})$  with respect to its coefficients

$$u = \sum_{|J|=p} u_J dt_J, \quad u_J \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1} L^1_{\text{loc}})$$
(3.4)

then the family of pseudo-differential maps  $b_j$  combines into chain maps  $b(t, D_x) \wedge :$  $\bigwedge^{\bullet} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{\text{loc}}) \to \bigwedge^{\bullet+1} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{\text{loc}})$  which act on u by integration

$$b(t,\xi) \wedge u = \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{|J|=p} (b_j(t,\xi) \wedge u_J) dt_j$$
(3.5)

The evident choice of  $\mathbb{P}^{(p)}$ :  $\bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^{1}_{loc}) \to \bigwedge^{p+1} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^{1}_{loc})$  fitting our requirements is

$$\mathbb{P} = d_t + b(t, D_x) \wedge \cdot \tag{3.6}$$

where  $d_t$  is the exterior derivative with respect to the variable t only. Parallel to that, it is useful to consider the action of  $\mathbb{P}$  on the frequency domain of x. Set  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}} : \bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; L^1_{\text{loc}}) \to \bigwedge^{p+1} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; L^1_{\text{loc}})$  with

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = d_t + b(t,\xi) \wedge \cdot \tag{3.7}$$

then  $\mathbb P$  and  $\widehat{\mathbb P}$  are related by

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}u} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}u}, \quad \hat{u} \in \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^{1}_{\text{loc}})$$
(3.8)

We will also adhere to the notations  $\mathbb{P}_b$  and  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_b$  whenever we wish to make the dependence of b explicit.

It should be verified if the definition above satisfies the chain complex condition. The same computation done in Lemma 2.14 for complexes of vector fields shows  $b(t, D_x) \wedge b(t, D_x) = 0$ . Combining this fact with the axiomatic properties of Proposition 1.9 for  $d_t$ , the composition of successive operators in the sequence is <sup>2</sup>

$$\mathbb{P}^{(p+1)} \circ \mathbb{P}^{(p)} = (d_t + b(t, D_x) \wedge \cdot)(d_t + b(t, D_x) \wedge \cdot)$$
(3.9)

$$= d_t \circ d_t + d_t(b \land \cdot) + b \land d_t + b \land b$$
(3.10)

$$= d_t b \wedge \cdot - b \wedge d_t + b \wedge d_t = d_t b \wedge \cdot \tag{3.11}$$

Thus,  $\mathbb{P}$  makes a complex iff  $d_t b(t, D_x) = 0, \forall t \in \Omega$ . In terms of  $b(t, \xi) = \sum_j b_j(t, \xi) dt_j$ , the same condition reads

$$(d_t b(t, D_x) \wedge u)(t, x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-2\pi i x \cdot \xi} d_t b(t, \xi) \wedge \widehat{u}(t, \xi) d\xi = 0, \forall u$$
(3.12)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> the truncated formulas shown stand in accordance with the rather lengthy expressions one gets by evaluating  $\mathbb{P}^{(p+1)} \circ \mathbb{P}^{(p)}(u)$  from the definitions

so we conclude (3.6) defines a complex iff for all  $t \in \Omega$ ,  $b(t, \xi)$  is a closed 1-form for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

The main achievement of [Tre76] (which came up with the model) was to establish a necessary and sufficient condition of solvability of a semi-global type (more on that later) for the equations

$$\mathbb{P}_b u = f, \quad f \in \bigwedge^p C^\infty(\Omega; H^\infty)$$
(3.13)

with f under suitable compatibility conditions and b with a few further requirements. We are going to state the problem in full generality, although our goal is only to show a proof of sufficiency specific to the case p = 0.

#### Requirements on the symbol $b(t,\xi)$

The most important assumption we make on b is exactness of  $b(t,\xi)$ . Beyond fulfilling the complex condition, that allows us to work with a primitive  $B(t,\xi)$  in what follows.

If exactness is assumed, a primitive B can be obtained by integration component-wise: let  $\Omega_0$  be a connected component of  $\Omega$  and take  $p_0 \in \Omega_0$  fixed. For  $t \in \Omega_0$  let

$$B(t,\xi) = \int_{\gamma(p_0,t)} b(s,\xi)$$
(3.14)

where  $\gamma(p_0, t)$  is any path going from  $p_0$  to t in  $\Omega$ .

The remaining requirements are stated by means of B. It should be noted, however, that a primitive B fulfills them iff any other choice of primitive does, and in that sense the requirements are still set upon b. The full set of premises is the following:

- (i) for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, b(\cdot, \xi)$  is exact
- (ii) Let B be a primitive of b, then  $B(t,\xi) = B^0(t,\xi) + R(t,\xi)$  for some  $B^0, R$  such that,  $\forall t \in \Omega, B(t, \cdot)$  is positive homogeneous of degree one and  $R(t, \cdot) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$
- (iii) Both  $B^0$  and R are  $C^{\infty}$  with respect to  $t \in \Omega$
- (iv) The restriction of  $B^0(t, \cdot)$  to  $S^{n-1} = \{\xi : |\xi| = 1\}$  is a function of class  $C^1$

The properties we impose on B (existence of  $B^0$  and R in (ii) and regularity of (iii) and (iv)) imply analogous conditions on coefficients  $b_j$  of the model. Indeed,  $d_t B = d_t B^0 + d_t R$ leads to a set of equations

$$b_j(t,\xi) = b_j^0(t,\xi) + r_j(t,\xi), \quad j = 1,\dots,n$$
(3.15)

where we take  $d_t B^0 = \sum b_j^0 dt_j$  and  $d_t R = \sum r_j dt_j$ . In particular, the coefficients are still  $C^{\infty}$  on t and  $C^1$  on  $\xi$ .

## 3.3 Reduction on the coefficient b and compatibility conditions

Write the homogeneous part of B as

$$B^{0} = B_{1}^{0} + iB_{2}^{0} \doteq \operatorname{Re} B^{0} + i\operatorname{Im} B^{0}$$
(3.16)

We define a family  $(U_t)_{t\in\Omega} \subset \mathcal{L}(E), E \in \{H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), H^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)\}$  of operators

$$\langle U_t, v \rangle(x) = \int e^{i(2\pi x \cdot \xi - B_2^0(t,\xi)) - R(t,\xi)} \widehat{v}(\xi) d\xi, \quad v \in E$$
(3.17)

which are continuous extensions of certain classes of transformations known as *Fourier* integral operators.

In a basic prototypical version, a Fourier integral operator T acts as a linear endomorphism on Schwartz functions  $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  by

$$(Tf)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{2\pi i \Phi(x,\xi)} a(x,\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) d\xi$$
(3.18)

Here, the functions a and  $\Phi$  are what we call the amplitude and phase of T, respectively. Well-definiteness depends upon the choice of a symbol class for  $a(x,\xi)$  (it could be one of the symbol spaces  $S^m(\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  we introduced in Definition 1.22, for example) and further conditions on the real-valued phase function  $\Phi$ , which is usually homogeneous of degree 1. See [SM93, §IX.3] for an introductory treatise on the subject.<sup>3</sup>

Of course, familiar examples of such mappings are obtained from  $\Phi(x,\xi) = x \cdot \xi$ , when each choice of *a* corresponds to a pseudo-differential operator with the same symbol. Far more general classes of operators arise naturally as solutions in the study of hyperbolic equations, perhaps most famously in the context of the wave equation.

Going back to (3.17), we may regard each  $U_t$  as a Fourier integral operator with  $\Phi_t(x,\xi) = x \cdot \xi - B_2^0(t,\xi)$  and  $a_t(x,\xi) = e^{-R(t,\xi)}$ . By doing so, we obtain  $\Phi_t$  homogeneous of degree 1 and the boundedness of R with respect to  $\xi$  provides straightforward estimates

$$\left|\frac{\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}\partial_{x}^{\alpha}a_{t}(x,\xi)}{(1+|\xi|)^{|\alpha|}}\right| \leq |r(t,\xi)^{\alpha}e^{-R(t,\xi)}| \leq \sup|r(t,\cdot)|^{\alpha}e^{\sup|R(t,\cdot)|}$$
(3.20)

showing  $a_t$  is in the symbol class  $S^0(\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ . Taking  $v \in H^s$ , for each  $t \in \Omega$  fixed,

$$\langle U_t, v \rangle \in H^s \iff \Lambda_s(U_t v) \in L^2$$
 (3.21)

$$\det\left(\frac{\partial^2 \Phi}{\partial x_i \partial \xi_j}\right) \neq 0 \tag{3.19}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The cited author develops the theory for a class of Fourier integral operators such that the symbol  $a(x,\xi)$  is compactly supported in x and such that, for each  $(x,\xi) \in \text{supp} a \cap \{(x,\xi) : \xi \neq 0\}, \Phi$  is a smooth function satisfying the nondegeneracy condition

(c.f. (1.53)). Considering the Fourier coefficients made evident in (3.17),

$$\|U_t v\|_{H^s} = \|\Lambda_s(U_t v)\|_2 = \left|\int e^{-2R_t} (1+|\xi|^2)^s |\hat{v}|^2 d\xi\right|^{1/2}$$
(3.22)

$$\leq \sup \left| e^{-R(t,\cdot)} \right| \|v\|_{H^s} < \infty \tag{3.23}$$

so  $U_t$  acts boundedly and invariantly on each Sobolev space  $H^s, s \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since s is arbitrary, the same considerations hold for  $v \in H^{\pm \infty}$ .

Similarly, one can define  $U_t^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(H^s)$  by letting

$$\langle U_t^{-1}, v \rangle = \mathcal{F}\{\hat{v}(\xi)e^{iB_2^0(t,\xi) + R(t,\xi)}\}$$
(3.24)

Rewriting (3.17) in the manner of (3.24), it is immediate that

$$U_t \circ U_t^{-1} = \mathcal{F} \circ \mathcal{F}^{-1}, \quad U_t^{-1} \circ U_t = \mathcal{F}^{-1} \circ \mathcal{F}$$
 (3.25)

so the fact  $U_t$  and  $U_t^{-1}$  are inverses is a simple restatement of the Fourier inversion formula. Hence,  $U_t$  is an automorphism on each of the Sobolev spaces considered so far.

To bring it to use in our problem, the family of automorphims  $(U_t) \subset \operatorname{Aut}(E)$  of (3.17) must be reinterpreted as a single automorphism over  $\bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E)$ . Accordingly, we let

$$\langle U, v \rangle(t, x) \doteq \int e^{i(2\pi i x \cdot \xi - B_2^0(t,\xi)) - R(t,\xi)} \hat{v}(t,\xi) d\xi$$
(3.26)

for  $v \in \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E)$ . Notice U acts on v(t, x) as a pseudo-differential operator for fixed x and as a Fourier integral operator for fixed t. If  $\mathcal{L}(E)$  is endowed with the strong operator topology, then  $(U_t)$  is continuous respect to t. Finally, for reasons I do not understand, the original author states in [Tre77] that the cases  $E \in \{H^{\pm \infty}\}$  are distinguished from the remaining ones, that is,  $E = H^s$  with  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , by the fact  $t \mapsto U_t$  is smooth in former setting.

The remarks made so far lead to the following.

**Proposition 3.1** ([Tre76, Prop.I.3.1]). Let  $E = \{H^{\pm \infty}\}$ , the assignments  $u \mapsto \langle U_t, u \rangle$ with formula (3.17) are automorphisms of E depending smoothly on  $t \in \Omega$ . Furthermore, they induce automorphisms  $U \in \operatorname{Aut}(\bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; E))$  by means of (3.26) for each level  $p = 0, \ldots, \nu$ . Finally, restrictions of U to the subspaces  $\bigwedge^p C^{\infty}(\Omega; E)$  and  $\bigwedge^p C_c^{\infty}(\Omega; E)$ are automorphisms as well.

The whole reason for the preceding discussion is to allow a simplifying assumption about the coefficient b. Let  $v \in \bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; H^{\pm \infty})$ , we compute the result of Uv when acted upon by  $\mathbb{P}$  –

$$\mathbb{P}(Uv) = d_t(Uv) + b(t, D_x) \wedge (Uv) = \int e^{i(2\pi x \cdot \xi - B_2^0) - R} (-i \operatorname{Im} b_0 - r) \wedge \hat{v} \, d\xi \qquad (3.27)$$

$$+\int e^{i(2\pi x\cdot\xi-B_2^0)-R}d_t\widehat{v}\ d\xi+b(t,D_x)\wedge(Uv)\qquad(3.28)$$

By definition,

$$b(t, D_x) \wedge (Uv) = \int e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} b(t, \xi) \wedge \widehat{Uv} \, d\xi \tag{3.29}$$

so considering  $\langle U, v \rangle = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\{\hat{v}(\xi)e^{-iB_2^0-R}\}$ , we have  $\widehat{Uv} = \hat{v}(\xi)e^{-iB_2^0-R}$  and thus, in conclusion,

$$\mathbb{P}(Uv) = \int e^{i(2\pi x \cdot \xi - B_2^0) - R} (d_t \hat{v} + \operatorname{Re} b_0 \wedge \hat{v}) \, d\xi \tag{3.30}$$

Notice the expression in parenthesis inside the integral is none other than the operator  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_{\operatorname{Re} b_0}$  applied to  $\widehat{v}$ , as we defined in (3.7). Since U is invertible, we may express  $\mathbb{P}_b$  and  $\mathbb{P}_{\operatorname{Re} b_0}$  as conjugates of each other:

$$\mathbb{P}_b(Uv) = U(\mathbb{P}_{\operatorname{Re}b_0}v) \implies \mathbb{P}_{\operatorname{Re}b_0} = U^{-1}\mathbb{P}_b U$$
(3.31)

This simplifies our problem considerably. A solution u to the equation  $\mathbb{P}u = f$  is equivalent to a solution v to  $\mathbb{P}_{\operatorname{Re} b_0}v = g$  with the bijective associations  $v = U^{-1}u$  and  $g = U^{-1}f$ . To be sure,

$$\mathbb{P}u = f \iff \mathbb{P}(Uv) = f \iff \mathbb{P}_{\operatorname{Re}b_0}v = (U^{-1}\mathbb{P}U)v = g$$
(3.32)

Hence, to the end of determining solvability, it suffices to consider  $B = B_1^0$ , that is, both b and B can be assumed real-valued and positively homogeneous of degree 1 on  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  (and we do so from now on).

#### Compatibility conditions

Having  $b(\cdot, \xi)$  exact with primitive  $B(\cdot, \xi)$ , the differential operator defined in (3.7) can be rewritten

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = e^{-B} d_t(e^B \cdot) \tag{3.33}$$

so  $d_t \circ d_t = 0$  implies  $(\widehat{\mathbb{P}}, \bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; L^1_{\text{loc}}))$  defines a chain complex on its own right. We look for minimal conditions on the *x*-Fourier transform of *f* which make a solution as in (3.13) feasible. Suppose given *f* there exists  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n))$  such that  $\mathbb{P}u = f$ . Then since

$$\mathbb{P}u = f \iff \widehat{\mathbb{P}}\widehat{u} = \widehat{f} \text{ a.e. } \xi \tag{3.34}$$

it follows from expression (3.33) that

$$e^{B(\cdot,\xi)}\widehat{f}(\cdot,\xi) = d_t(\widehat{u}(\cdot,\xi)) \tag{3.35}$$

In other words, if f can be solved for, then  $e^{-B(\cdot,\xi)}\hat{f}(\cdot,\xi)$  is exact, by necessity. This motivates the following.

**Definition 3.2.** A (p+1)-current  $f \in \bigwedge^{p+1} C^{\infty}(\Omega; H^{\infty})$  is said **compatible** if  $e^{B(\cdot,\xi)} \hat{f}(\cdot,\xi)$  is t-exact for almost all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . The set of all  $f \in \bigwedge^{p+1} C^{\infty}(\Omega; H^{\infty})$  such that f is compatible will be denoted  $\mathbb{E}_b^p$ .

**Remark 3.3.** Conversely, if f is compatible,  $\mathbb{P}u = f$  has a solution  $u \in \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^{1}_{loc})$ . Indeed, for almost every  $\xi$  fixed we can integrate (3.35) (as we shall do soon) with respect to t. This leads to some  $\hat{u} \in \bigwedge^{p} \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; L^{1}_{loc})$  satisfying  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}\hat{u} = \hat{f}$  a.e.  $\xi$ . By (3.34) we have a formal solution.

Now that solutions in the formal setting are thoroughly characterized, we turn to the problem of actual interest, which is solvability in the framework of distributions. As mentioned before, distributions can be localized in their appropriate domain, contrary to the functions in  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega; \mathcal{F}^{-1}L^1_{\text{loc}})$  we considered so far. Making the value spaces Sobolev functions of x, we can localize distributions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and thus make sense of semi-global solvability.

**Definition 3.4.** Let  $\Omega'$  be an open subset of  $\Omega$ , then  $\mathbb{P}^{(p)} = d_t + b(t, D_x) \wedge \cdot$  is said

(i) semi-globally solvable with respect to  $\Omega'$ , if for any  $U' \subseteq \Omega'$ ,

$$\forall f \in \mathbb{E}_b^p, \ \exists u \in \bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(U'; H^{-\infty}) \ such \ that \ \mathbb{P}u = f \ in \ U'$$
(3.36)

(ii) smoothly semi-globally solvable with respect to  $\Omega'$ , if for any  $U' \subseteq \Omega'$ ,

$$\forall f \in \mathbb{E}_b^p, \ \exists u \in \bigwedge^p \mathcal{D}'(U'; H^\infty) \ such \ that \ \mathbb{P}u = f \ in \ U'$$
(3.37)

## 3.4 Condition $(\psi)$ and proper decay on the coefficients

To better understand the phenomena at play, we investigate the conditions of solvability which arise when  $\nu = 1$ , p = 0 and  $\Omega$  is connected. The inhomogeneous term fwill then be a 1-form, which can be naturally identified with a scalar function. Doing so (and replacing  $d_t$  with  $\partial_t$ ), we have a single pseudo-differential equation to solve for –

$$(\partial_t + b(t, D_x))u = f \tag{3.38}$$

Fourier transforming on x leads to a family of ODEs

$$(\partial_t + b(t,\xi))\hat{u} = \hat{f} \tag{3.39}$$

varying with  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Referring once again to (3.35), we have  $\partial_t(e^B \hat{u}) = e^B \hat{f}$ , so we can integrate with respect to t to solve for the frequency-domain function

$$\widehat{u}(t,\xi) = e^{-B(t,\xi)} \int_{t_0(\xi)}^t e^{B(s,\xi)} \widehat{f}(s,\xi) ds$$
(3.40)

with each  $t_0(\xi) \in \Omega$  a base point of our choice.

To be able to reconstruct a solution  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; H^{\pm \infty})$ , the function of  $\xi$  defined by (3.40) must decay like a tempered distribution, which amounts to appropriate bounds on the growth of its derivatives. To this end, the behaviour of the real exponent  $e^{B(s,\xi)-B(t,\xi)}$ can be a problem. Unless we can choose starting points  $t_0(\xi)$  such that  $B(t,\xi) - B(s,\xi)$  is bounded below for s in the interval of integration (and uniformly on  $\xi$ ), we won't have the appropriate estimates to ensure we have a solution in the sense of distributions.

Say we wish to choose  $t_0(\xi)$  so that

$$B(t,\xi) - B(s,\xi) \ge 0 \tag{3.41}$$

for each s between  $t_0(\xi)$  and t. In this case, it is quite easy to come up with a condition which is both necessary and sufficient to allow such choice. They are given in a couple different ways below.

**Proposition 3.5.** Suppose  $\nu = 1$  and  $U' = (a, b) \subseteq \Omega$ , then the following are equivalent

- (i) there exists  $t_0 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \overline{U'}$  so that, for all  $(t,\xi) \in U' \times \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $B(t,\xi) B(s,\xi) \ge 0$ whenever s lies between  $t_0(\xi)$  and t;
- (ii) for every  $(t,\xi) \in U' \times \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $b(t,\xi) > 0$  implies  $b(s,\xi) \ge 0$  for every s > t;
- (iii) for every  $t \in U'$  and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , the sublevel sets  $\{t \in U' : B(t,\xi) < r\}$  are connected.

Proof. Let  $\xi$  be fixed and  $\alpha = B(\cdot, \xi)$ . We can read the statement of (i) separately for the cases  $t \leq t_0(\xi)$  and  $t_0(\xi) \geq t$ . In the former, (i) says  $\alpha$  is non-increasing in  $(a, t_0(\xi)]$  while in the latter it says  $\alpha$  is non-decreasing in  $[t_0(\xi), b)$ . Consequently,  $t_0(\xi)$  is necessarily a point of global minimum for  $\alpha$  with derivative  $\alpha'$  non-positive for  $t \leq t_0(\xi)$  and non-negative elsewhere. Implication  $(i) \implies (ii)$  then readily follows. With those same considerations, we can see the pre-images of  $(-\infty, r)$  by  $\alpha$  restricted to the monotonic intervals are both convex with common point  $t_0(\xi)$  (if any) so  $\{t \in U' : B(t, \xi) < r\}$  is again an interval and we conclude (iii) follows from (i).

The converse statements follow just as easily. Since this is a simple illustration for the more general case, we leave them without a proof.  $\Box$ 

It turns out that the statement of (iii), with its condition of connectivity for sublevel sets of  $B(\cdot,\xi)$ , is better suited for a generalization to higher dimensions.



(a) Some  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  split the precompact region U'into a disconnected set  $U'_r$ . However, there is  $U \subseteq \Omega$  containing U' such that each component of  $U'_r$  falls within the same component of  $U_r = \{t \in U : B(t) < r\}.$ 



(b) Some  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  split U' into disconnected regions. Since the sublevel  $\{t : B(t) < r\}$  is itself disconnected, no choice of  $U \subseteq \Omega$  can possibly make the components of  $U'_r$  fall within a single component of  $U_r$ .

Figure 1 – Example and non-example for condition  $(\psi)$ 

## Condition $(\psi)$

For the remaining part of this section, we keep a shorthand for the sublevel sets determined by B. If  $U \subset \Omega$  is open and  $(\xi, r) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ , we denote

$$U(\xi, r) \doteq \{ t \in U : B(t, \xi) < r \}$$
(3.42)

Taking into account the formulation of Proposition 3.5 (*iii*), as well as the semi-global character of the solutions under consideration, we make the following generalization.

**Definition 3.6.** Let  $\Omega' \subset \Omega$  be an open connected set. Then  $\Omega'$  satisfies condition  $(\psi)$  if it fits the following:

For all  $U' \subseteq \Omega'$ , there exists  $U \subseteq \Omega$  with  $U' \subset U$  such that, for any  $(\xi, r) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ , the intersection  $U'(\xi, r) \cap \Omega'$  is contained in a single component of  $U(\xi, r)$ .

**Example 3.7.** Consider  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$  and B constant in  $\xi$  given by  $B(t_1, t_2) = t_1 \cdot t_2$ . Then  $\Omega' = \{(x, y) : x, y < 0\}$  satisfies  $(\psi)$  in Definition 3.6, but  $\Omega' = \mathbb{R}^2$  does not.

Consider  $U' \Subset \Omega$  given and  $U'_r = \{t \in U' : B(t) < r\}$  for each  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ . Figure 1(a) illustrates how, for a given a non-convex pre-compact set U' (in golden), there exists  $U \Subset \Omega$  (in green) as ( $\psi$ ) requires. By contrast, no corresponding U fitting the requirement can be chosen for U' in Figure 1(b).

As our remarks in the proof of Proposition 3.5 suggest, the ideal choice of base points  $t_0(\xi)$  to produce an appropriate bound on  $B(t,\xi) - B(s,\xi)$  involves making  $t_0(\xi)$  a point of minimum for  $B(\cdot,\xi)$ . We follow this same approach for the general case, but in doing so, we need to make sure some choice of  $t_0(\xi)$  turns out measurable.

**Lemma 3.8.** Let  $K_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^{\nu}, K_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be compact subsets and  $B : K_1 \times K_2 \to \mathbb{R}$  a continuous function.

Then, there exists a measurable function  $t^*: K_2 \to K_1$  such that

$$B(t^*(\xi),\xi) = \inf_{K_1} B(\cdot,\xi), \quad \forall \xi \in K_2$$
(3.43)

*Proof.* Given B is continuous in a compact domain,  $\alpha : \xi \mapsto \min_{K_1} B(\cdot, \xi)$  must be continuous as well. Now suppose the Lemma holds in the special case where the function  $B_0$  non-negative and such that

$$\forall \xi \in K_2, \exists t \in K_1 \text{ with } B(t,\xi) = 0 \tag{3.44}$$

Then, given any B continuous,  $B - \alpha$  is continuous, non-negative and also reaches a value of 0 for any  $\xi \in K_2$  fixed. Therefore, our assumption implies the existence of  $t^*$  measurable such that  $\forall \xi \in K_2, B(t^*(\xi), \xi) - \alpha(\xi) = 0$ , which is precisely condition (3.43) with respect to B. This means it suffices to construct  $t^*$  for B in the special case to conclude.

As a further simplification, we will assume  $K_1$  is a cartesian cube. Indeed, by Tietze's extension theorem, B can be continuously extended to a cube  $Q \supset K_1$  where it remains nonnegative. Adding to this extension a function which vanishes on  $K_1$  and is strictly positive on  $Q \setminus K_1$  (known to exists by Urysohn's lemma), we retain  $\inf_Q B(\cdot, \xi) = \inf_{K_1} B(\cdot, \xi) = 0$ , so there is no issue taking  $Q = K_1$  from the start.

We now prove the existence of  $t^*$  by an inductive argument on  $\nu$ . When  $\nu = 1$ , one has  $K_1$  an interval and it suffices to let  $t^*(\xi) = \inf_{K_1} \{t : B(t,\xi) = 0\}$ , as that gives an upper semicontinuous function (Definition 1.20), which is clearly measurable.

Let  $\rho_{\nu}: K_1 \to \mathbb{R}^{\nu-1}$  and  $\pi_{\nu}: K_1 \to \mathbb{R}$  be the coordinate projections such that  $\rho_{\nu} \times \pi_{\nu}$ is the identity on  $K_1$ . For  $\nu > 1$ , analogously to the case  $\nu = 1$ , we have semicontinuous scalar mappings  $t_{\nu}: K_2 \to \pi_{\nu}(K_1)$ , which are given by

$$t_{\nu}(\xi) = \inf_{t \in K_1} \{ \pi_{\nu}(t) : B(t,\xi) = 0 \}$$
(3.45)

Again, they are measurable and will be used in the construction of  $t^*$ .

To that end, we decompose  $K_2$  into a disjoint countable union  $\bigsqcup_j S_j \sqcup T$  which attains the following:

- (i) The sets in  $(S_i)$  are compact
- (ii) T has Lebesgue measure  $\mu(T) = 0$
- (iii) for each j, the restriction of  $t_{\nu}$  to  $S_j$  is continuous

Those can be met by bringing together the compact sets obtained through an inductive iteration of Lusin's theorem (Theorem 1.21). Start by letting  $\epsilon_1 = 1$ , Lusin's theorem gives

a compact  $S_1 \subset K_2$  with  $\mu(K_2 \setminus S_1) < \epsilon_1$  where  $t_{\nu}|_{S_1}$  is continuous. Inductively, at the *j*-th step, we let  $\epsilon_j = 2^{-j}$  and consider  $t_{\nu}$  restricted to  $K_2 \setminus \bigsqcup_{l=1}^{j-1} S_l$ . Then, Lusin's theorem provides an  $S_j$  compact and disjoint from  $\bigcup_{l=1}^{j-1} S_l$  where  $t_{\nu}$  restricts to a continuous function and  $\mu(K_2 \setminus \bigsqcup_{l=1}^j S_l) < \epsilon_j$ . The remaining part of  $K_2$ , not covered by any  $S_j$ , will have measure 0: let  $T = K_2 \setminus \bigcup_{l=1}^{\infty} S_j$ , then the standard continuity property of measures for decreasing sequences (with the fact  $\mu(K_2) < \infty$ ) implies

$$\mu(T) = \mu\left(\bigcap_{j} K_2 \backslash S_j\right) = \lim_{j} \mu\left(K_2 \backslash \bigcup_{l=1}^{j-1} S_l\right) = \lim \epsilon_j = 0$$
(3.46)

so we accomplish what we intended.

Having that, notice for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  the mapping

$$B_j: \rho_\nu(K_1) \times S_j \to \mathbb{R} \tag{3.47}$$

$$(\tilde{t},\xi) \mapsto B(\tilde{t},t_{\nu}(\xi),\xi)$$
 (3.48)

is continuous and  $\rho_{\nu}(K_1) \subset \mathbb{R}^{\nu-1}, S_j \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  are compact, so the inductive hypothesis gives measurable functions  $\tilde{t}_j^* : S_j \to \rho_{\nu}(K_1)$  such that

$$\forall \xi \in K_2, B(\tilde{t}_j^*(\xi), t_\nu(\xi), \xi) = 0$$
(3.49)

Then it suffices to take

$$t^*(\xi) = \begin{cases} (\widetilde{t}_j^*(\xi), t_\nu(\xi)), & \text{if } \xi \in S_j, \\ \text{arbitrarily in } \{t : B(t, \xi) = 0\} & \text{if } \xi \in T \end{cases}$$
(3.50)

This makes  $B(t^*(\xi), \xi) = 0$  for all  $\xi$  and, given a measurable  $M \subset K_2$ 

$$t^{*-1}(M) = \{\xi \in T : t^*(\xi) \in M\} \cup \bigcup_j \tilde{t}_j^{*-1}(M) \cap t_{\nu}^{-1}(M)$$
(3.51)

is again measurable due to the basic properties concerning measurable functions and sets.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Remark 3.9.** Making  $t^*$  upper semicontinuous in each entry would work if not for the fact such choice is not generally possible beyond the base case  $\nu = 1$ , as the following example illustrates:

Let 
$$B: [-1,1]^2 \times [-1,1] \to \mathbb{R}$$
 be a continuous non-negative function with

$$\{(t,\xi): B(t,\xi) = 0\} = \{(1,0,\xi): \xi \le 0\} \cup \{(0,1,\xi): \xi \ge 0\}$$
(3.52)

then  $t^*$  is uniquely determined by (3.43) except at  $\xi = 0$ , where the value of  $t^*$  is either (1,0) or (0,1). In the first case, the second entry  $t^*$  fails to be upper semicontinuous, while in the other, the first entry does so.

Going from the case  $\nu = 1$  to higher dimensions, we are met with new difficulties. We can still solve for the Fourier coefficients with a line integral from  $t_0(\xi)$  to t, but our choice of integration path  $\gamma(t,\xi)$  will affect the estimates, as the length of the paths must be factored in. The growth of the coefficients would be suitable for Fourier inversion if we could find path choices so that  $B(t,\xi) - B(s,\xi) \ge 0$  for  $s \in \gamma(t,\xi)$  while the length of  $\gamma(t,\xi)$  remains uniformly bounded on  $\xi$ . However, those requirements are incompatible in general. The solution is to loosen the constraints a bit – the length of  $\gamma(t,\xi)$  is allowed to grow with  $|\xi|$ , but only asymptotically less than  $|\xi|^{\nu-1}$ .

**Lemma 3.10.** Suppose  $(\psi)$  holds for  $\Omega' \subseteq \Omega$  open and connected, with U' and U pairs of precompact sets related as they appear in Definition 3.6. Also let  $t^* : S^{n-1} \to \overline{U}$  be a measurable function such that

$$B(t^*(\xi),\xi) = \inf_{\overline{U}} B(\cdot,\xi), \quad \forall \xi \in S^{n-1}$$
(3.53)

and  $t_0(\xi) \doteq t^*(\xi/|\xi|)$  for  $\xi \in \Omega \setminus \{0\}$ .

Then there exists a constant C > 0 depending on U' such that for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, t \in U'$ we have an integration path  $\gamma(t,\xi) \subset \Omega$  from  $t_0(\xi)$  to t with the following properties

- 1.  $B(t,\xi) B(s,\xi) \ge -1, \ \forall s \in \gamma(t,\xi)$
- 2. the length  $|\gamma(t,\xi)|$  of  $\gamma(t,\xi)$  is bounded by

$$|\gamma(t,\xi)| \le C(1+|\xi|)^{\nu-1} \tag{3.54}$$

**Remark 3.11.** Notice since B is positive homogeneous, the first condition can be reformulated as

$$B(t,\xi/|\xi|) - B(s,\xi/|\xi|) \ge -\frac{1}{|\xi|}, \quad \forall s \in \gamma(t,\xi)$$

$$(3.55)$$

highlighting the fact that, although the endpoints  $t_0(\xi)$  and t of  $\gamma(t,\xi)$  do not change as  $\xi$  increases in module along the same direction, the bound for the values of B along  $\gamma(t,\xi)$  gets increasingly strict.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{D}_0$  be the collection of closed unit cubes in  $\mathbb{R}^{\nu}$  with vertices in  $\mathbb{Z}^{\nu}$ . Take  $(\mathcal{D}_k)$  the sequence where each  $\mathcal{D}_k$  is the image of  $\mathcal{D}_0$  through the contraction  $t \mapsto 2^{-k}t$ .

For  $(t,\xi) \in U' \times \mathbb{R}^n$  given, set  $r_{t,\xi} = B(t,\xi) + 1/2$  and consider for each k the sub-collections  $\mathcal{Q}_k(\xi, r_{t,\xi}) = \{D \in \mathcal{D}_k : D \cap U(\xi, r_{t,\xi}) \neq \emptyset\} \subset \mathcal{D}_k$  of those cubes that do intersect  $U(\xi, r_{t,\xi})$  non-trivially. Also denote  $U_k^+(\xi, r)$  the union of all  $D \in \mathcal{Q}_k(\xi, r)$  and observe each  $s \in U_k^+(\xi, r)$  belongs to a cube of diameter  $2^{-k}\sqrt{\nu}$  which intersects  $U(\xi, r)$  at some point s'.

Similarly, we take  $U_k^+ = \bigcup \{ D \in \mathcal{D}_k : D \cap U \neq \emptyset \}$ . Since  $U \subseteq \Omega$ , either  $\Omega^c$  is empty or it sits within a positive distance of U. Either way, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

 $U + \mathcal{B}_{\delta}(0) \subset \Omega$ . Then, taking  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  so that  $2^{-k_0}\sqrt{\nu} < \delta$ , we have  $U_k^+ \subset \Omega$  for every  $k \ge k_0$ . We make use of the following global estimate:

$$M \doteq \max\{\sup_{\substack{t \in \overline{U_{k_0}^+} \\ |\xi| = 1}} |d_t B(t, \xi)|, 1\}$$
(3.56)

Notice if  $N \doteq \#\{D \in \mathcal{D}_0 : D \cap \overline{U} \neq \emptyset\}$  is the number of unit cubes intercepting  $\overline{U}$ then for all k the amount of cubes in  $\mathcal{Q}_k(\xi, r)$  is bounded above by  $\#\mathcal{Q}_k(\xi, r) \leq 2^{\nu k} N$ .

Now let  $(t,\xi)$  be fixed. Given  $s \in U_k^+(\xi, r_{t,\xi})$  take  $s' \in U(\xi, r_{t,\xi})$  such that s and s' partake a common cube in  $\mathcal{Q}_k(\xi, r_{t,\xi})$ . Then if  $k \ge k_0$  we obtain

$$B(s,\xi) \le |B(s,\xi) - B(s',\xi)| + B(s',\xi)$$
(3.57)

$$\leq M|\xi||s-s'|+r_{t,\xi} \leq 2^{-k}M\sqrt{\nu}|\xi|+r_{t,\xi}$$
(3.58)

There is a unique integer  $k_{\xi} \ge 2$  such that  $2^{k_{\xi}-2} < M\sqrt{\nu}(1+|\xi|) \le 2^{k_{\xi}-1}$ . Thus applying  $k' \doteq k_0 + k_{\xi}$  to the previous we end up with

$$B(s,\xi) \le 2^{-(k_0+k_\xi)} M \sqrt{\nu} |\xi| + r_{t,\xi}$$
(3.59)

$$\leq 2^{-(k_0+k_{\xi})} 2^{k_{\xi}-1} + r_{t,\xi} \leq 1/2 + r_{t,\xi}, \quad \forall s \in U_{k'}^+(\xi, r)$$
(3.60)

On the other hand, the statement of  $(\psi)$  says points in  $U'_{k'}(\xi, r)$  partake a common connected component of  $U(\xi, r)$ . Then since  $U(\xi, r) \subset U^+_{k'}(\xi, r)$ , we have a piece-wise linear path  $\gamma(t,\xi) \subset U^+_{k'}(\xi,r)$  joining t and  $t^*(\xi)$ .<sup>4</sup> If we avoid traversing the same cube more than once, this may be achieved with length

$$|\gamma(t,\xi)| \leq \# \mathcal{Q}_{k'}(2^{-k'}\sqrt{\nu}) = N\sqrt{\nu} \ 2^{k'(\nu-1)}$$
(3.61)

$$\leq N\sqrt{\nu}(2^{k_0+2}M\sqrt{\nu}(1+|\xi|))^{\nu-1} = C(1+|\xi|)^{\nu-1}$$
(3.62)

with C a constant independent of  $(t, \xi)$ . Apply (3.59) in particular to points in the paths we constructed to get the uniform bounds

$$B(t,\xi) - B(s,\xi) \ge B(t,\xi) - B(s,\xi) \ge -1, \quad \forall s \in \gamma(t,\xi)$$
(3.63)

so both conditions are met and the proof is concluded.

**Theorem 3.12** (Sufficiency of  $(\psi)$ ). If  $(\psi)$  holds for an open connected  $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ , then  $\mathbb{P}^{(0)}$  is smoothly semi-globally solvable with respect to  $\Omega'$  at p = 0.

Proof. Let  $f \in \mathbb{E}_b^0$  and  $U' \Subset \Omega'$ , then  $(\psi)$  gives a suitable set U. Take  $t^* : S^{n-1} \to \overline{U}$  obtained from Lemma 3.8 with  $K_1 = S^{n-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $K_2 = \overline{U}$ , then we are set to apply Lemma 3.10, which provides paths  $(\gamma(t,\xi))_{(t,\xi)\in U'\times\mathbb{R}^n}$  where the appropriate estimates hold.

 $\square$ 

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{4} \quad t^*(\xi) \in U'(\xi, r) \text{ due to equation (3.53)}$ 

Given  $(t,\xi) \in U' \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , we let

$$v(t,\xi) \doteq \int_{\gamma(t,\xi)} e^{B(s,\xi) - B(t,\xi)} \widehat{f}(s,\xi)$$
(3.64)

Notice the values of v are not dependent on the particular choice of integration path, since the integrand is closed.

Properties 1. and 2. in Lemma 3.10 ensure v satisfies the estimates

$$|v(t,\xi)| \le |\gamma(t,\xi)| \sup_{s \in \gamma(t,\xi)} |e^{B(s,\xi) - B(t,\xi)}| |\hat{f}(t,\xi)|$$
(3.65)

$$\leq e C(1+|\xi|)^{\nu-1} \sup_{s \in \overline{U}} |\widehat{f}(s,\xi)|$$
(3.66)

Now given  $f \in \bigwedge^1 C^{\infty}(\Omega; H^{\infty})$ , we have  $\hat{f} \in \bigwedge^1 C^{\infty}(\Omega; H^{\infty})$  a function whose decay in the second variable is faster than arbitrary powers of  $|\xi|^{-1}$  when  $\xi \to \infty$ . A similar estimate holds for the *t*-variable, and the standard inductive argument shows  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}v$  is smooth in *t*. Therefore, we conclude  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}v$  is in  $\bigwedge^1 C^{\infty}(\Omega; H^{\infty})$ .

# 4 A model with real coefficients

# 4.1 Definition

Consider a system of vector fields in  $\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}$  as follows.

$$L_j = \partial_{t_j} + a_j(t)\partial_x, \quad j = 1, \dots, n, (t, x) \in \mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}$$
 (4.1)

where  $a_j \in C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{T}^n)$ .

By direct computation, the Lie bracket between any two of those fields is

$$[L_j, L_k] = (\partial_{t_j} a_k - \partial_{t_k} a_j) \partial_x \tag{4.2}$$

so the requirement of commutativity is equivalent to the equalities

$$\partial_{t_i} a_k = \partial_{t_k} a_j \tag{4.3}$$

for  $j, k = 1, ..., \nu$ . In such case, our introductory discussion determines we can naturally associate a chain complex of differential operators, given by

$$\mathbb{L}_a^p = d_t + a(t) \wedge \partial_x, \quad (p = 0, \dots, n-1)$$

$$(4.4)$$

with  $a(t) \doteq \sum_j a_j dt_j \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n, \bigwedge^1 \mathbb{T}^n)$  and  $d_t$  denoting the exterior derivative with respect to the t variable only. Notice (4.3) is precisely the condition of a being closed.

The first cohomology group of the de Rham complex for  $\mathbb{T}^n$  is  $H^1_{dR}(\mathbb{T}^n) \cong \mathbb{R}^n$ , with the constant 1-forms  $dt_j$  giving representatives for a set of generators. Therefore, there exists  $A \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)$  and  $a_0 \in \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}}(dt_j)_j$  such that

$$a = a_0 + dA \tag{4.5}$$

The constant 1-form  $a_0$  will sometimes be identified with a constant in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  by means of its real coordinates respect to the generators  $(dt_j)_j$ .

The action of the differential maps (4.4) will take place between ascending levels of **currents** over  $\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}$ , as they are defined in Example 2.4. A slight difference, however, is that only *p*-currents spanned by  $dt_J$  with |J| = p are considered. For this reason we denote the domains  $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p,0})$ . An element in it is therefore written uniquely as

$$u = \sum_{|J|=p} u_J dt_J, \quad u_J \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T})$$
(4.6)

This modification should make sense in view of the fact (4.4) does not involve dx in any way. The subspace of *p*-forms with the same restriction is denoted, analogously, as  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p,0})$  Fourier series are adapted in a straight-forward manner: with  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{1,0})$ represented by coefficients  $u_J$  as before, the (total) Fourier series of u reads

$$u = \sum_{(j,k)\in\mathbb{Z}^n\times\mathbb{Z}} \widehat{u}(j,k)e^{i(j\cdot t+kx)}$$
(4.7)

where the coefficients are defined by

$$\widehat{u}(j,k) = \sum_{[J]=p} \widehat{u}_J(j,k) dt_J$$
(4.8)

with  $\hat{u}_J$  now the standard Fourier coefficients.<sup>1</sup> Similarly, we also have the partial Fourier series with respect to x

$$u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{u}^x(t,k) e^{ikx}$$
(4.9)

where  $\hat{u}^x(\cdot, k) \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n)$ . We will omit the x from  $\hat{u}^x$  if there is no risk of confusion.

The problem under consideration is to ascertain the solvability, and determine explicit solutions if it has, for the linear systems

$$\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p}u = f, \quad p = 0, \dots, n-1$$
(4.10)

where  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p,0})$  is in a suitable subset of the codomain defined by compatibility conditions. The developments of [BP99] characterize the **global solvability** of  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$  with an algebraic condition on the vector a, namely whether or not it is a Liouville form.

## 4.2 Liouville forms

## Liouville numbers

The concept of a Liouville numbers goes back to the middle of the 19th century, when Joseph Liouville first showed all such numbers are transcendental, thus proving the existence of non-algebraic numbers for the first time. Liouville's constant, defined through its decimal representation

$$L_b = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} 10^{-l!} = 10^{-1} + 10^{-2} + 10^{-6} + \dots$$
(4.11)

is among the first known examples.

Liouville numbers are characterized by the existence of very tight approximations by rational numbers:  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  is Liouville if for every  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $(p,q) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$  with  $q \ge 2$  such that

$$\left|x - \frac{p}{q}\right| < \frac{1}{q^l} \tag{4.12}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> to avoid confusion: the indices j and J are not related

In a more refined classification, we can assign to every number  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  an irrationality exponent  $\mu(x)$  as follows. Let  $R_x \subset \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  be the set of positive reals  $\mu$  such that

$$\{(p,q) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}_{>0} : 0 < |x - p/q| < q^{-\mu} \text{ and } gcd(p,q) = 1\}$$
(4.13)

is finite and take  $\mu(x) \doteq \inf_{\mu \in R_x} \mu$ , with  $\mu(x) = \infty$  if  $R_x$  is unbounded.

Comparing with (4.12), it is easy to see a Liouville number corresponds to the extreme case  $\mu(x) = \infty$  and, by contrast,  $\mu(x) = 1$  whenever  $x \in \mathbb{Q}$ .

It follows from an important theorem of Dirichlet in the subject of Diophantine approximations that for  $x \notin \mathbb{Q}$ , we have  $2 \in R_x$  in the previous construction, and therefore  $\mu(x) \ge 2$  for all irrationals. A rational number x has irrationality measure  $\mu(x) = 1$ , of course, so there is a 'gap' between 1 and 2 in  $\mu(\mathbb{R})$ . As Roth's theorem would later show, this is already the best lower bound one can get in the case of irrational algebraic numbers, since every such x has irrationality exponent  $\mu(x) = 2$ .

## Global hypoellipticity

In regards to solvability of PDEs, Liouville numbers make their first appearance in [GW72] in the form of a necessary and sufficient algebraic condition for hypoellipticity. The name comes from the well-know regularity property of elliptic operators

if 
$$P$$
 is elliptic,  $Pu \in C^{\infty} \implies u \in C^{\infty}$  (4.14)

which becomes the defining property of hypoellipticity. Indeed, the condition is much weaker than a trivial characteristic set.

To be more precise, what the authors found in [GW72] is that global hypoellipticity of a constant coefficients differential operator

$$P = \partial_t + c \ \partial_x, \quad (t, x) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}$$

$$(4.15)$$

is equivalent to c being a non-Liouville constant. This has to do with the necessary decay of Fourier coefficients to reconstruct a solution. Many conditions related to this idea have been proposed and proved since then.

### Liouville vectors and forms

When dealing with systems of vector fields, as is our case, multiple coefficients appear, so we have to make sense of a Liouville vector.

**Definition 4.1.** A given  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is said **Liouville** if  $\alpha \notin \mathbb{Q}^n$  and there are sequences  $(\mathbf{p}_j)_{l \in \mathbb{Z}_+} = (\mathbf{p}_{j,1}, \ldots, \mathbf{p}_{l,n})_{l \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{Z}^n$  and  $(q_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  such that

$$\left\{ \max_{j} \left| \alpha_{j} - \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{l,j}}{q_{l}} \right| \cdot q_{l}^{l} : l \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$

$$(4.16)$$

is bounded.

**Remark 4.2.** Notice the denominator  $q_l$  used for the approximations is common to all numerators.

**Definition 4.3** ([BCM93, Def. 2.1]). A closed 1-form  $\alpha \in \bigwedge C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{T}^n)$  is said

(i) integral if

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\sigma} \alpha \in \mathbb{Z} \tag{4.17}$$

for all 1-cycles  $\sigma$ 

- (ii) rational if  $q\alpha$  is integral for some  $q \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$
- (iii) Liouville if  $\alpha$  is not rational and there exist sequences  $(\alpha_j) \subset \bigwedge^1 C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n), (q_l) \subset \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ such that

$$\left\{q_l^{\ l} \left| \alpha - \frac{\alpha_j}{q_l} \right| \right\}_{l \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \bigwedge^1 C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)$$
(4.18)

is bounded.

Making a choice of 1-cycles  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$  which represent generators of  $H^1(\mathbb{T}^n)$  in the homology of chains, we can define a linear map  $I: H^1_{dR}(\mathbb{T}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ 

$$[\beta] \mapsto \frac{1}{2\pi} (\int_{\sigma_1} \beta, \dots, \int_{\sigma_n} \beta)$$
(4.19)

We can then relate the previous definitions through the following.

**Proposition 4.4** ([BCM93, Prop.2.2]). Let  $\alpha \in \bigwedge C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{T}^n)$  be a closed form, then

- (i)  $\alpha$  is integral iff  $I[\alpha] \in \mathbb{Z}^n$
- (ii)  $\alpha$  is rational iff  $I[\alpha] \in \mathbb{Q}^n$
- (iii)  $\alpha$  is Liouville iff  $I[\alpha]$  is Liouville (according to Definition 4.1)

In view of the fact we can decompose  $a = a_0 + dA$  as in (4.5), a is homologous to a constant 1-form, which is Liouville iff a is. It's immediate to verify that the linear map I applied to  $[a_0]$  is simply its identification in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , therefore, rather than relying on Definition 4.3 to classify a, we can work solely with Definition 4.1 as applied to  $a_0$ .

There is one final remark regarding Diophantine approximations which will have an important role in the main proof. One may read it as saying that, if q is the smallest integer such that  $q\alpha$  is integral, then rationals approximate  $\alpha$  as if it were non-Liouville, provided that denominators in  $q\mathbb{Z}$  are precluded in the approximations. The elementary proof is given below. **Lemma 4.5.** Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}^n$  and  $q = \min\{n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0} : n\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$ , then

$$||j\alpha - k||_{\infty} \ge \frac{1}{q}, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}^n, j \in \mathbb{Z} - q\mathbb{Z}$$
 (4.20)

*Proof.* Write  $\alpha = \frac{1}{q}p$  with  $p \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ , then

$$j\alpha - k = \frac{jp - qk}{q} \implies \|j\alpha - k\|_{\infty} = \frac{1}{q}\|jp - qk\|_{\infty}$$

$$(4.21)$$

so the lower bound holds unless there are  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  and  $j \in \mathbb{Z} - q\mathbb{Z}$  such that jp = qk.

If we did have the equality, it would entail  $k = \frac{j}{q}p \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ . Now since j is not divisible by q, it must be the case that q divides the gcd of the entries of p. This, however, would mean q is not minimal, a contradiction.

# 4.3 Global solvability

To determine the appropriate notion of global solvability for  $\mathbb{L}_a^p$ , we must find a requirement on  $f \in \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{L}_a^p)$  so we can expect to solve  $\mathbb{L}_a^p u = f$ . The approach is similar to (3.35), where the differential equations for the *x*-Fourier coefficients lead to a requirement of exactness involving  $\hat{f}(\cdot, \xi)$ . Things are a bit trickier this time, however, because *a* is only assumed to be closed. To write the equations as exact differentials, we rely on a primitive defined in the universal covering of  $\mathbb{T}^n$ .

**Lemma 4.6.** Let  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p+1,0})$  be such that there exists  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p+1,0})$ with  $\mathbb{L}^p_a u = f$  and  $\Pi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$  the universal covering map of  $\mathbb{T}^n$ . Then  $\mathbb{L}^{p+1}_a f = 0$ and taking  $\psi_j \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $d\psi_j = \Pi^*(ja_0)$ , we have  $e^{i(\psi_j + jA)} \widehat{f}(\cdot, j)$  an exact form whenever  $ja_0$  is integral.

*Proof.* That  $\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p+1}f = 0$  readily follows from  $\mathbb{L}_{a}$  being a chain complex, i.e.  $\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p+1}\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p} = 0$ . For the next part, we use the Fourier series on x to represent  $u = \sum_{j} \hat{u}(t,j)e^{ijx}$  and  $f = \sum_{j} \hat{f}(t,j)e^{ijx}$ , so that

$$\mathbb{L}^{p}_{a}u = f \iff (d_{t} + ija \wedge)\hat{u}(\cdot, j) = \hat{f}(\cdot, j), \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$(4.22)$$

$$\iff (d_t + ija_0 \wedge)(e^{ijA}\hat{u}(\cdot, j)) = e^{ijA}\hat{f}(\cdot, j), \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$(4.23)$$

Now let  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  be such that  $ja_0$  is integral. Then  $\Pi^*(ja_0) \in \bigwedge^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  gives a closed form in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Because  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is simply connected,  $\Pi^*(ja_0)$  is in fact an exact form, say  $d\psi_j = \Pi^*(ja_0)$ .

Since  $\pi_1(\mathbb{T}^n)$  is abelian, Hurewicz's theorem implies each 1-cycle in  $\mathbb{T}^n$  is homologous to a smooth loop. Thus, if  $p, q \in \mathbb{R}^n$  are in the same fiber of  $\Pi$  (that is,  $\Pi(p) = \Pi(q)$ ),

$$\psi_j(p) - \psi_j(q) = \int_p^q d\psi_j = \int_p^q \Pi^*(ja_0) \in 2\pi\mathbb{Z}$$
 (4.24)

This implies  $e^{i\psi_j} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  factors through the quotient  $\Pi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ , so it induces a smooth function  $e^{i\psi_j} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)$ . Equation (4.23) can be rewritten as

$$d_t(e^{ijA}\hat{u}(\cdot,j)) = e^{ijA}(\hat{f}(\cdot,j) - ija_0\hat{u}(\cdot,j))$$

$$(4.25)$$

thus

$$d_t \left( e^{i(\psi_j + jA)} \hat{u}(\cdot, j) \right) = e^{i\psi_j} (ija_0 \hat{u}(\cdot, j) + d_t (e^{ijA} \hat{u}(\cdot, j))) = e^{i(\psi_j + jA)} \hat{f}(\cdot, j)$$

confirms exactness of the right-side.

**Definition 4.7.** Let  $\mathbb{E}_a^p \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p+1,0})$  be given by

$$\mathbb{E}_{a}^{p} = \{ f \in \operatorname{Im}(\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p}) : ja_{0} \text{ integral implies } e^{i(\psi_{j}+jA)} \hat{f}(\cdot,j) \text{ exact} \}$$

We say  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$  is globally solvable ((GS) for short) if given  $f \in \mathbb{E}^p_a$  there exists  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p+1,0})$  such that  $\mathbb{L}^p_a u = f$ .

An automorphism of  $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p+1,0})$  allows us establish a conjugation between operators  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$  with homologous coefficients *a*. Indeed, let  $S_A$  act over  $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p,0})$  by

$$u = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{u}(t, j) e^{ijx} \mapsto \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{u}(t, j) e^{ij(x+A(t))}$$
(4.26)

then  $S_A$  is bounded with  $(S_A)^{-1} = S_{-A}$ , thus it defines an automorphism. Since

$$(d_t + ija_0 \wedge)(e^{ijA}\hat{u}(\cdot, j)) = e^{ijA}(d_t\hat{u}(\cdot, j) + ij(a_0 + dA) \wedge \hat{u}(\cdot, j))$$
(4.27)

the conjugate relation

$$\mathbb{L}^p_{a_0}S_A = S_A \mathbb{L}^p_a \tag{4.28}$$

follows. Finally, given  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p,0})$ ,

$$\widehat{S_A f}(\cdot, j) = e^{ijA} \widehat{f}(\cdot, j), \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(4.29)

so we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{a}^{p} = \{ f \in \operatorname{Im}(\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p}) : \forall j a_{0} \text{ integral}, e^{i\psi_{j}} \widehat{S_{A}f}(\cdot, j) \text{ is exact} \} = S_{A}(\mathbb{E}_{a_{0}}^{p})$$
(4.30)

Those considerations lead to the following.

**Lemma 4.8.** Let  $a, b \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)$  with a and b homologous, then  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$  is (GS) iff  $\mathbb{L}^p_b$  is.

*Proof.* It suffices to verify the statement when b is the constant 1-form  $a_0$  in the homology class of a. The result is almost immediate from our considerations – by (4.30), each  $f \in \mathbb{E}_a^p$  corresponds bijectively to  $g = S_A f \in \mathbb{E}_{a_0}^p$ , therefore (4.29) leads to

$$\exists u : \mathbb{L}^p_a u = f \iff \exists g : \mathbb{L}^p_{a_0} v = g \tag{4.31}$$

where the solutions are related by  $v = S_A u$ . Global solvability of  $\mathbb{L}^p_{a_0}$  is then equivalent to global solvability of  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$ .

We are now in place to state the main result of the paper.

**Theorem 4.9.** For each p = 0, ..., n - 1,  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$  is globally solvable if and only if a is not a Liouville 1-form.

Naturally, Lemma 4.8 reduces the problem to the cases  $a = a_0$  a constant 1-form. We will only concern ourselves with the proof of sufficiency, that is,  $\mathbb{L}_a^p$  is (GS) if a is non-Liouville, doing so in a constructive manner (that is, making an explicit choice of Fourier coefficients).

# 4.4 Exactness of $\xi \wedge \cdot$

The proof of solvability will involve the standard procedure of determining the Fourier coefficients of candidate solutions. In solving for the coefficients of the total Fourier series (4.40), the differential problem is replaced with a system of algebraic equations in the alternating algebra spanned by  $(dt_j)$ , which is isomorphic to  $\bigwedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{R}^n$ . More precisely,  $\mathbb{L}^p u = f$  leads to a system of equations of type

$$\xi_{j,k} \wedge \hat{u}(j,k) = f(j,k) \tag{4.32}$$

indexed by  $(j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $(\xi_{j,k})_{(j,k)\in\mathbb{Z}^{n+1}}$  is a family of covectors in  $\bigwedge^1 \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Each equation in the system corresponds to a linear, non-homogeneous problem with regards to the linear map  $\xi_{j,k} \wedge :: \bigwedge^p \mathbb{R}^n \to \bigwedge^{p+1} \mathbb{R}^n$ . Existence and general form of solutions are thus fully understood once kernel and image of the operators  $\xi \wedge \cdot$ , determined by some  $\xi \in \bigwedge^1 \mathbb{R}^n$ , are characterized – (4.32) is solvable iff  $\hat{f}(j,k) \in \text{Im}(\xi_{j,k} \wedge \cdot)$  and, in such case, the general solution is a coset in  $\bigwedge^p \mathbb{R}^n / \ker \xi_{j,k} \wedge \cdot$ . Fortunately, complexes of such type are already familiar to us from Example 2.13, where we showed the Rham complex is elliptic. Indeed, the induced linear complexes (2.39), generated by  $i\xi \wedge \cdot$  for some  $\xi \in \bigwedge^1 \mathbb{F}^{\nu}$  were found to be exact, so we do know  $\ker(\xi_{j,k} \wedge \cdot) = \text{Im}(\xi_{j,k} \wedge \cdot)$  at each level in (4.32).

The present situation still requires a bit more. We are unable to make estimates on the decay of the Fourier coefficients to ensure they come from a distribution, unless coordinates of a particular solution are constructively specified. The next lemma complements our discussion by doing so.

**Lemma 4.10** ([BP99, Lemma 2.1]). Consider V a vector space of dimension n (over  $\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$ ) and  $\gamma = (e_1, \ldots, e_n)$  a basis for  $\bigwedge^1 V$ . Let  $\xi = \sum_j \xi_j e_j \in \bigwedge^1 V \setminus \{0\}$ , then for any  $g = \sum_{|J|=p+1} g_J e_J \in \bigwedge^{p+1} V$  chosen  $(1 \leq p \leq n-1)$  the equation  $(*) \xi \wedge v = g$  has a solution  $v \in \bigwedge^p V$  iff  $\xi \wedge g = 0$  holds. Furthermore, when solutions do exist, take

 $r \in \{1, \ldots n\}$  such that  $\xi_r \neq 0$ , then a particular solution of (\*) is

$$v_0 = \frac{1}{\xi_r} \sum_{\substack{|J|=p+1\\r\in J}} sgn(r, J - \{r\}) g_J e_{J-\{r\}}$$
(4.33)

where the summation is over ascending (p+1)-tuples which contain r, and  $sgn(r, J - \{r\}) \in \{\pm 1\}$  denotes the sign of the permutation  $(r, j_1, \ldots, \hat{r}, \ldots, j_{p+1})$ . Finally, the full set of solutions for (\*) is given by

$$v = v_0 + \xi \wedge w, \quad w \in \bigwedge^p V$$

*Proof.* The only claim which cannot be derived directly from the preceding discussion is the fact  $v_0$  as given by (4.33) is a solution, so we restrict ourselves to that.

Since  $\xi_r \neq 0$ , we can rewrite  $e_r$  as a linear combination of  $\xi$  and the remaining elements of the basis

$$e_r = \frac{1}{\xi_r} \xi - \sum_{l \neq r} \frac{\xi_l}{\xi_r} e_l \tag{4.34}$$

We split the terms of g according to whether or not  $r \in J$ . If it does, we can substitute  $e_J = \operatorname{sgn}(r, J - \{r\})e_r \wedge e_{J-\{r\}}$  to make  $e_r$  the leading covector in the expressions.

$$g = \sum_{\substack{|J|=p+1\\1\in J}} g_J e_{(1,J-\{1\})} + \sum_{\substack{|J|=p+1\\1\notin J}} g_J e_{J-\{1\}}$$
(4.35)

$$= \sum_{\substack{|J|=p+1\\1\in J}} g_J \operatorname{sgn}(r, J - \{r\}) e_r \wedge e_{J-\{r\}} + \sum_{\substack{|J|=p+1\\1\notin J}} g_J e_{J-\{1\}}$$
(4.36)

Then, substituting  $e_r$  for (4.34) so as to obtain g in terms of the base  $\{\xi\} \cup (\gamma - \{r\}) \subset \bigwedge^1 V$ , the expression for  $v_0$  appears. We have

$$g = \sum_{\substack{|J|=p+1\\i\in J}} \frac{1}{\xi_1} \operatorname{sgn}(r, J - \{r\}) g_J \xi \wedge e_{J-\{1\}}$$
(4.37)

$$-\sum_{\substack{l=2\\l\in I}}^{n}\sum_{\substack{|I|=p+1\\l\in I}}\frac{\xi_l}{\xi_1}\operatorname{sgn}(r, J-\{r\})g_Je_l \wedge e_{I-\{1\}} + \sum_{\substack{|J|=p+1\\l\notin J}}g_Je_{J-\{1\}}$$
(4.38)

$$=\xi \wedge v_0 + g^* \tag{4.39}$$

where  $g^*$  is a vector spanned by  $(e_2, \ldots, e_n)$ .

The boundary condition  $\xi \wedge g = 0$  then leads to  $\xi \wedge g^* = 0$ . But since the restriction of  $\xi \wedge \cdot$  to the span of  $(e_2, \ldots, e_n)$  is injective,  $\xi \wedge g^* = 0$  implies  $g^* = 0$ , and therefore  $g = \xi \wedge v_0$ .

It is worth pointing out that the denominator  $\xi_r$  in the expression obtained for  $v_0$ , which is a coordinate of  $\xi$ , is what later requires the Diophantine estimates on the coefficient *a* to obtain some bound on the growth of the Fourier coefficients.

# 4.5 Proof of sufficiency

All is set for the main proof.

**Proposition 4.11.** If a is not a Liouville form, then  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$  is globally solvable.

*Proof.* Again, in view of Lemma 4.8, it suffices to show  $\mathbb{L}^p_a$  is (GS) when  $a = a_0 \in \bigwedge^1 \mathbb{T}^n$  is non-Liouville. Let  $f \in \mathbb{E}_{a_0}$ , we split the argument in regards to  $a_0$  being rational or not.

First suppose  $I[a_0] \notin \mathbb{Q}^n$ . Let  $(a_{0j}) \doteq I[a_0]$ , a solution u for the equation  $(d_t + a_0 \land \partial_x)u = f$  requires the total Fourier coefficients to be such that

$$i\left(\sum_{m=1}^{n} j_m dt_m + ka_0\right) \wedge \hat{u}(j,k) = i\left(\sum_{m=1}^{n} (j_m + ka_{0m})dt_m\right) \wedge \hat{u}(j,k)$$
(4.40)

$$= \hat{f}(j,k), \quad (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{Z}$$
(4.41)

Let  $\xi_{j,k} \doteq \sum_{m=1}^{n} (j_m + ka_{0m}) dt_m$ . Since  $I[a_0] \notin \mathbb{Q}^n$ ,  $ka_0$  is never integral and therefore  $\xi_{j,k}$  doesn't vanish - except, of course, if (j,k) = 0. The compatibility condition on f implies the partial Fourier coefficient  $\hat{f}^x(\cdot, 0)$  is exact, thus

$$\hat{f}(0,0) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} \hat{f}^x(\cdot,0) = 0$$
(4.42)

in virtue of Stoke's theorem. Therefore, it suffices to set  $\hat{u}(0,0) = 0$  to solve (4.40) for (j,k) = 0. Otherwise, for any  $(j,k) \neq 0$ , we have  $\xi_{j,k} \neq 0$  and, given  $f \in \mathbb{E}_{a_0} \subset \ker \mathbb{L}_{a_0}^{p+1}$ , the equation  $\xi_{j,k} \wedge \hat{f}(j,k) = 0$  holds and Lemma 4.10 applies, yielding solutions

$$\widehat{u}(j,k) = \frac{1}{i(j_M + ka_{0_M})} \sum_{\substack{|J| = p+1 \\ M \in J}} sgn(r, J - \{M\}) (\widehat{f}(j,k))_J dt_{J-\{M\}}$$
(4.43)

to (4.40) with  $M \doteq \arg \max\{|k_l + ja_{0_l}| : l \in \{1, \dots, n\}\}.$ 

Given  $a_0$  is non-Liouville, Definition 4.1 implies there are constants C > 0 and  $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  such that

$$\max_{1 \le m \le n} |qa_{0_m} - p_m| \ge C|q|^{-L}, \quad \forall (p,q) \in \mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$$

$$(4.44)$$

On the other hand, given f is a smooth function, the growth of its coefficients is subpolynomial, so there exist  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and another constant C > 0 with

$$\left|\widehat{f}(j,k)\right| \leqslant C(1+|(j,k)|)^{-N}, \quad \forall (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+1}$$

$$(4.45)$$

Combining the estimates and changing the constants, we conclude

$$|\hat{u}(j,k)| \leq C \left| \frac{\hat{f}(j,k)}{j_M + ka_{0_M}} \right| \leq C(1+|k|)^{-L}(1+|(j,k)|)^{-N}$$
(4.46)

$$\leq C(1+|(j,k)|)^{-(L+N)}, \quad \forall (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+1} - \{0\}$$
(4.47)

and therefore the coefficients do come from a *p*-form  $u \in \bigwedge^{p,0} C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T})$  which solves the differential problem. This concludes the proof for the case  $a_0$  not rational.

Now suppose  $a_0 \in \mathbb{Q}^n$  and take  $q \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  minimum such that  $qa_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ . We split the domain of the operator into two complementary subspaces

$$\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}; \bigwedge^{p,0}) = \mathcal{D}'_{q\mathbb{Z}}{}^{p,0} \oplus \mathcal{D}'_{\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}{}^{p,0}$$

where, given  $A \subset \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\mathcal{D}'_A{}^{p,0}$  corresponds to the subset of (p, 0)-currents whose partial Fourier coefficients with respect to x are supported on a subset A, so that  $u \in \mathcal{D}'_A{}^{p,0}$  can be written

$$u(t,x) = \sum_{k \in A} \widehat{u}^x(t,k) e^{ikx}$$
(4.48)

The action of  $\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p}$  corresponds to a linear action on the partial Fourier coefficients (which is given by (4.23)), so the operator acts invariantly over the complementary subspaces just defined. The linear subspace projections therefore induce differential complexes  $(\mathbb{L}_{a,q\mathbb{Z}}^{p}, \mathcal{D}'_{q\mathbb{Z}}^{p,0})_{p}, (\mathbb{L}_{a,\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}^{p}, \mathcal{D}'_{\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}^{p,0})_{p}$  where the differential maps on each level add up to  $\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p}$ . Solving  $\mathbb{L}_{a}^{p}u = f$  is therefore equivalent to solving the equations

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{L}^{p}_{a,q\mathbb{Z}}u_{1} = f_{1} \\ \mathbb{L}^{p}_{a,\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}u_{2} = f_{2} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.49)$$

where  $(u_1, u_2)$  and  $(f_1, f_2)$  are the respective images of u and f through the natural isomorphisms  $\mathcal{D}'_{q\mathbb{Z}}{}^{p,0} \oplus \mathcal{D}'_{\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}{}^{p,0} \to \mathcal{D}'_{q\mathbb{Z}}{}^{p,0} \times \mathcal{D}'_{\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}{}^{p,0}$ 

To solve the first equation, we show  $\mathbb{L}^p_{a,q\mathbb{Z}}$  is a conjugate of  $d_t$ . Let  $T \in Aut(\mathcal{D}'_{q\mathbb{Z}})^{p,0}$  be given by

$$u = \sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{u}^x(t, qN) e^{iqNx} \mapsto \sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{u}^x(t, qN) e^{i(qNx - \psi_{qN}(t))}$$
(4.50)

with  $\psi_{qN}$  as in Lemma 4.6. Then, notice

$$\mathbb{L}_{a,q\mathbb{Z}}^{p}Tu = \sum_{N\in\mathbb{Z}} (d_t + iqNa_0 \wedge \cdot - d_t\psi_{qN} \wedge \cdot)\widehat{u}^x(t,qN)e^{i(qNx-\psi_{qN}(t))} = T^{-1}d_tu \qquad (4.51)$$

so indeed  $d_t = T^{-1} \mathbb{L}^p_{a,q\mathbb{Z}} T$ . Thus, the bijective correspondences  $g \leftrightarrow f_1$  and  $v \leftrightarrow u_1$  given by  $g = T^{-1} f_1$  and  $v = T^{-1} u_1$  are so that solutions in  $\mathcal{D}'_{q\mathbb{Z}}{}^{p,0}$  for  $\mathbb{L}^p_{a,q\mathbb{Z}} u_1 = f$  and  $d_t v = g$ are equivalent.

Set  $g \doteq T^{-1}f_1$ , then since  $f_1$  has partial Fourier coefficients supported in  $q\mathbb{Z}$  with  $\widehat{f_1}^x(\cdot, qN) = \widehat{f}^x(\cdot, qN)$  for  $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the compatibility conditions over  $f \in \mathbb{E}_{a_0}$  imply the partial Fourier coefficients

$$\hat{g}^{x}(\cdot,k) = \begin{cases} e^{i\psi_{k}}\hat{f}^{x}(\cdot,k), & \text{if } k = qN\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.52)
are all exact. Then, the same argument we used to show  $\hat{f}(0,0) = 0$  in (4.42) works here to assure  $\hat{g}(0,k) = 0$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

In solving  $d_t v = g$ , we obtain a system of equations

$$i\sum_{m=1}^{n} j_m dt_m \wedge \hat{v}(j,k) = \hat{g}(j,k), \quad \forall (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{Z}$$

By (4.52), the coefficients

$$\widehat{g}(j,k) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} \widehat{g}^x(t,k) e^{it \cdot j}$$
(4.53)

are identically zero for  $k \notin q\mathbb{Z}$ , so the equations can be solved if we take  $\hat{v}(j,k) = 0$  for either j = 0 or  $k \notin q\mathbb{Z}$ , and the solutions provided by Lemma 4.10 in the remaining cases. The denominators (originally denoted  $\xi_r$ ) for the particular solutions obtained from the Lemma are all non-zero integers, so instead of (4.46), the estimates for the coefficients become

$$|\hat{u}(j,k)| \leq C|\hat{f}(j,k)|, \quad (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^* \times \mathbb{Z}$$

$$(4.54)$$

which is already sufficient to verify the chosen coefficients have sub-polynomial growth. They are thus obtained from some  $v \in \bigwedge^{p,0} C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T})$ . Furthermore, since  $\hat{v}^x(t,k) = \sum_j \hat{v}(j,k)e^{ij\cdot t} = 0$  for  $k \notin q\mathbb{Z}$ , v belongs to the appropriate subspace of smooth functions in  $\mathcal{D}'_{q\mathbb{Z}}^{p,0}$ . Hence the first equation in (4.49) is solvable.

The proof that  $\mathbb{L}^p_{a_0,\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}u_2 = f_2$  is solvable goes analogously to the case of  $a_0$  irrational non-Liouville. The equations for the Fourier coefficients are

$$i\left(\sum_{m=1}^{n} (j_m + ka_{0_m})dt_m\right) \wedge \widehat{u_2}(j,k) = \widehat{f_2}(j,k), \quad (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{Z}$$
(4.55)

but since  $f_2 \in \mathcal{D}'_{\mathbb{Z}-q\mathbb{Z}}^{p,0}$  the coefficients

$$\widehat{f}_2(j,k) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} \widehat{f}_2^x(t,k) e^{it \cdot j}$$
(4.56)

are all zero for  $k \in q\mathbb{Z}$ . Then, we can take  $\hat{u}_2(j,k) = 0$  for  $k \in q\mathbb{Z}$  and a solution like (4.43) otherwise, since  $\sum_m j_m + ka_{0m}dt_m \neq 0$  in the latter case. In view of Lemma 4.5, we have C > 0 such that

$$|qa_0 - k| \ge C, \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{Z} - q\mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$$

so we have the estimate  $\max_{m} |qa_{0m} - p_m| \ge C, \forall (q, p)$  in place of (4.46) to show

$$|\hat{u}_2(j,k)| \leqslant C |\hat{f}_2(j,k)|, \quad \forall (j,k) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+1}$$

$$(4.57)$$

thus concluding the coefficients come from a smooth  $u_2$  which solves the second equation in (4.49).

**Remark 4.12.** As shown in [BCM93], in more generality, with M a compact smooth manifold in place of  $\mathbb{T}^n$ , the differential operator  $\mathbb{L}^0$  defined by (4.4) is globally hypoelliptic (cf. Section 4.2) iff a is neither rational nor Liouville. In particular, solutions in the case  $I[a] \notin \mathbb{Q}$  non-Liouville are necessarily smooth. By contrast, although we were also able to determine smooth solutions in the case  $I[a] \in \mathbb{Q}$ , not all solutions are of that sort. The counter-example given in [BCM93, Theorem 2.4] is

$$u(t,x) = \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} e^{-iN(qx - \psi_q(t))}$$
(4.58)

Indeed  $\liminf_{|k|\to\infty} |\hat{u}^x(t,k)| = 1$  implies  $(\hat{u}^x(t,k))_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$  are slowly increasing, but not rapidly decreasing sequences. Then,  $u \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}) \setminus C^\infty(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T})$  even though  $(d_t + a(t) \wedge \partial_x)u = 0 \in \bigwedge^1 C^\infty(\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T})$ .

## Bibliography

- [Ara+24] Gabriel Araújo et al. "Global solvability and cohomology of tube structures on compact manifolds". en. In: *Mathematische Annalen* (Feb. 2024). ISSN: 0025-5831, 1432-1807. DOI: 10.1007/s00208-024-02804-0. URL: https://link. springer.com/10.1007/s00208-024-02804-0 (visited on 07/19/2024).
- [BCM93] A.P. Bergamasco, P.D. Cordaro, and P.A. Malagutti. "Globally Hypoelliptic Systems of Vector Fields". en. In: Journal of Functional Analysis 114.2 (June 1993), pp. 267–285. ISSN: 00221236. DOI: 10.1006/jfan.1993.1068. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0022123683710682.
- [BP99] Adalberto P Bergamasco and Gerson Petronilho. "Global Solvability of a Class of Involutive Systems". en. In: Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 233.1 (May 1999), pp. 314–327. ISSN: 0022247X. DOI: 10.1006/ jmaa.1999.6310. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0022247X99963102.
- [BCH08] Shiferaw Berhanu, Paulo D. Cordaro, and Jorge Hounie. An introduction to involutive structures. New mathematical monographs 6. OCLC: ocn166357721. Cambridge ; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2008. ISBN: 978-0-521-87857-9.
- [CH77] Fernando Cardoso and Jorge Hounie. "Global solvability of an abstract complex". en. In: *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society* 65.1 (1977), pp. 117–124. ISSN: 0002-9939, 1088-6826. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9939-1977-0463721-8. URL: https://www.ams.org/proc/1977-065-01/S0002-9939-1977-0463721-8/.
- [Fol99] G. B. Folland. Real analysis: modern techniques and their applications. 2nd ed.
   Pure and applied mathematics. New York: Wiley, 1999. ISBN: 978-0-471-31716 6.
- [Gra14] Loukas Grafakos. Classical Fourier analysis. Third edition. Graduate texts in mathematics 249. OCLC: ocn897345823. New York: Springer, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-4939-1193-6.
- [GW72] Stephen J. Greenfield and Nolan R. Wallach. "Global hypoellipticity and Liouville numbers". en. In: Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 31.1 (Jan. 1972), pp. 112–112. ISSN: 0002-9939. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9939-1972-0296508-5. URL: http://www.ams.org/jourcgi/jour-getitem?pii= S0002-9939-1972-0296508-5.

- [HZ17] Jorge Hounie and Giuliano Zugliani. "Global solvability of real analytic involutive systems on compact manifolds". en. In: *Mathematische Annalen* 369.3-4 (Dec. 2017), pp. 1177–1209. ISSN: 0025-5831, 1432-1807. DOI: 10.1007/s00208-016-1471-5. URL: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00208-016-1471-5 (visited on 07/19/2024).
- [Lee13] John M. Lee. Introduction to smooth manifolds. 2nd ed. Graduate texts in mathematics 218. OCLC: ocn800646950. New York ; London: Springer, 2013.
   ISBN: 978-1-4419-9981-8.
- [Maz11] Vladimir Gilelevic Mazja. Sobolev spaces: with applications to elliptic partial differential equations. eng. 2nd, revised and augmented edition. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften 342. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer, 2011.
   ISBN: 978-3-642-15563-5. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-15564-2.
- [Men23] Gerardo A. Mendoza. *Elliptic complexes: Hodge theory, Lefschetz formula*. (Lecture notes from a minicourse ministered at São Carlos). 2023.
- [Rud91] Walter Rudin. *Functional analysis.* 2nd ed. International series in pure and applied mathematics. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1991. ISBN: 978-0-07-054236-5.
- [RT10] M. Ruzhansky and Ville Turunen. Pseudo-differential operators and symmetries: background analysis and advanced topics. 1st ed. Pseudo-differential operators. Theory and applications vol. 2. Basel ; Boston: Birkhaeuser, 2010. ISBN: 978-3-7643-8513-2.
- [SM93] Elias M. Stein and Timothy S. Murphy. Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals. [Princeton mathematical series 43]. Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press, 1993. ISBN: 978-0-691-03216-0.
- [Tre67] Francois Treves. Topological vector spaces, distributions and kernels. Dover books on mathematics. Mineola, N.Y: Dover Publications, 1967. ISBN: 978-0-486-45352-1.
- [Tre76] Francois Treves. "Study of a Model in the Theory of Complexes of Pseudodifferential Operators". In: *The Annals of Mathematics* 104.2 (Sept. 1976), p. 269. ISSN: 0003486X. DOI: 10.2307/1971048. URL: https://www.jstor.org/ stable/1971048?origin=crossref.
- [Tre77] Francois Treves. Solvability of a model in the theory of complexes of pseudodifferential operators. (Lecture notes written by J. Hounie from a course ministered by Treves in the Mathematics Department of the Federal University of Pernambuco, in Recife). 1977.